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A message  
from the MEC

“Our vision is for 
Gauteng to have a 
world-class film and 
TV production 
industry as well as  
to be the continent’s 
main media and 
content exchange 
centre.”
Firoz Cachalia
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Our vision is for Gauteng to develop a world-class film and 

TV production industry as well as to be the continent’s 

main media and content exchange centre. To achieve this, 

Johannesburg, in particular, must remain at the forefront of 

the South African film industry. 

Provincial investment in TV, film and digital media is also 

informed by the Province’s Growth and Development 

Strategy commitment to the development of ICT, broadcast 

and media industries which play a critical role in improving 

the global competitiveness of Gauteng. We also see content 

development as vital in supporting the government’s efforts 

to promote digitisation in broadcast technology.

While we encourage the diversification of our economy 

through investment in the services sector the challenge, 

however, remains that we must ensure development is 

inclusive and that we leverage all growth to create jobs, in 

line with the government’s priority to promote the creation 

of decent work. Film production and related industries 

have a significant contribution to make in this regard. I am 

therefore pleased to see meaningful progress being made 

by the Film Commission to increase production activity as 

well as to stimulate local demand and nurture local talent.

Firoz Cachalia

MeC for economic Development
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A message from  
the Chairperson

“The global media 
interest in the 
Confederations Cup 
and 2010 FIFA World 
Cup South Africa has 
resulted in a steady 
stream of international 
crew and media visiting 
the Province.”
Nkenke Kekana
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The GFC facilitates the issuance of public filming permits 

in Gauteng on behalf of filmmakers, production companies, 

students as well as local and international foreign film and 

TV crew. The permits provide useful data of production 

trends over the past 12 months, with permit logs for 2008 

showing a slight decrease in the volume of productions 

on the previous production year. Two worrying trends are 

apparent from this data – the first being that Gauteng’s 

traditional ‘low season’ started much earlier in 2008 than 

in 2007, possibly as a result of an increasing number of 

productions being cancelled due to the uncertain economic 

climate as well as problems being reported at the national 

public broadcaster.  This is borne out by the second trend, 

namely a dramatic drop in the number of TV productions 

produced during the past year in Gauteng.

The challenge facing the Board and GFC during 2009 

and 2010 will therefore be to monitor and respond to 

the unfolding global economic crisis – a crisis which is 

compounded by the financial problems at the public 

broadcaster and which is already impacting on production 

activity in the Province.

On a more positive note, the popularity of Gauteng as a 

location for local productions is highlighted by box office 

data supplied by Ster-Kinekor.  This shows that the majority 

of South African productions released in 2008 utilised 

Gauteng locations or were produced in the Province. 

During the past few months we also saw notable Gauteng 

productions, such as Jerusalema, doing exceedingly well with 

Gauteng audiences. In terms of location filming, Gauteng 

also attracted some significant international productions, 

including a major Warner Bros. studio project with Clint 

Eastwood at the helm, as well as District 9 – a Sony project 

backed by Oscar award-winner Peter Jackson. The annual 

Commercial Producers Association of South Africa’s (CPA) 

survey also showed some positive growth in commercial 

production with commercials continuing to play a major role 

in the Gauteng industry. Further, the global media interest in 

the Confederations Cup and 2010 FIFA World Cup South 

Africa has also resulted in a steady stream of international 

crew and media visiting the Province. 

As always, I must extend a heartfelt thanks to my fellow 

board members for their invaluable contributions 

throughout the year. While members come from diverse 

business backgrounds, they share a passion for the industry 

and a dedication to its future.

It would be remiss of me not to mention the devotion 

of the CEO, Terry Tselane, and his team of committed 

professionals at the GFC whose hard work and dedication 

continue to lead and develop our industry.

Nkenke Kekana

Chairperson
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Hot air balloon safari, Magaliesberg



Vision

Making Gauteng an innovative world-class hub for the film 

and television industry.

Mission

To cultivate, facilitate and enhance an environment that 

allows the film and television industry to play a meaningful 

role in the socio-economic development of Gauteng.

Our values

Our values incorporate the following Batho Pele principles:

• Respect

• Leadership

• Responsibility

• Responsiveness

• Progressive and innovative

• Passion, excellence and commitment

• People development and empowerment

• Efficiency, accountability and transparency

Strategic objectives

•  To promote Gauteng as a film location and production hub 

of choice

•  To coordinate data collection, analysis and dissemination

•  To facilitate, enhance and support production capacity, 

audience and content development

•  Support greater access to and participation in the audio-

visual industry by previously disadvantaged individuals and 

communities

•  To promote the social and economic value of film to all 

Gauteng’s citizens

•  To inform, shape and influence the national and provincial 

agenda on the audio-visual industry 

•  To improve efficiency and effectiveness in the management 

of GFC resources and processes.

Vision, mission, values 
and mandate
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The Gauteng Film Commission (GFC) is an agency of the Gauteng Provincial 
Government tasked with the development and promotion of the audio-visual 
industries in Gauteng. Flowing from this mandate, the GFC’s core business is 
to facilitate and enhance the contribution of the industry to the economic 
growth of the Province.
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“Support has been given 
to more than 20 Gauteng-
related film and television 
content projects during 
the past year at various 
levels of the production 
value chain including 
development, production, 
post-production and 
distribution.”
Terry Tselane

A message from the 
Chief Executive Officer
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Support has been given to more than 20 Gauteng-related 
film and television content projects during the past year 
at various levels of the production value chain including 
development, production, post-production and distribution. 
Various activities were also undertaken by the GFC that 
sought to ensure productions reach a wider targeted 
audience. Screenings were held in various townships around 
Gauteng, in partnership with civil society associations. In total, 
8 audience development initiatives have been implemented 
reaching over 11 000 people.

During 2008 the Gauteng Film Commission also achieved 
significant success through its marketing programmes in:
• positioning and marketing ‘Location Gauteng’; 
•  promoting the Province’s world-class skills in the film, 

commercial and audiovisual sectors; and
•  consistently messaging the GFC as a proactive, efficient 

organisation with the industry’s interests at heart. 

Working with limited resources, we have also worked 
towards encouraging a film culture in Gauteng and have 
productively engaged with government entities to establish 
strong channels of communication regarding production 
activity in and around the Province, to the benefit of the 
entire industry.  To this end, the formation of the Gauteng 
Film Partnership has been a notable achievement and I wish to 
thank the members of the partnership for their hard work. 

It is pleasing to report that for the first time the GFC can 
present a detailed annual Production Report, providing a 
summary of production activity during the course of the 
year. Only by tracking and reporting on production data 
can the GFC effectively measure its impact on growing and 
developing the industry. While limited resources are available 
for research purposes, the GFC now has a dedicated 

Research Manager responsible for collating monthly and 
quarterly production data. 

Lastly, I wish to refer to the partnership agreement entered 
into between the Gauteng Film Commission (acting on 
behalf of the Gauteng Provincial Government) and CNBC 
Africa. Since the establishment of the studios of CNBC Africa 
in Johannesburg, a number of benefits have accrued to the 
Province as a result of the agreement, notably foreign direct 
investment in the media and broadcast industry, the creation 
of more than 130 jobs as well as a content partnership 
which has resulted in significant global exposure given to 
the Province and the work of the provincial government. In 
signing the agreement the GFC has provided a guarantee to 
CNBC Africa which ensures a minimum annual advertising 
income in support of the establishment of its studios. The 
GFC has taken a number of steps to ensure that liabilities 
arising from this guarantee are minimised and we call on 
all our partners in government to utilise this excellent 
marketing platform. Due to the complex nature of the 
agreement, the GFC will be in ongoing liaison with Gauteng 
Treasury to ensure that the agreement is in compliance with 
applicable legislation.  

I wish to thank the members of the Audit Committee for 
their ongoing contributions to the organisation. To the staff 
of the Auditor General we are particularly grateful for their 
professionalism and assistance.

Terry Tselane
Chief executive officer



Management 

the Chief executive officer is appointed by the MeC for 

Finance and economic Affairs in consultation with the 

Board and is held accountable to this office.

Audit Committee

the Audit Committee of the Gauteng Film Commission 

serves as its principal agent in ensuring proper oversight in 

matters relating to, among others, the integrity of 

management, the independence of GFC auditors and the 

adequacy of disclosures to the public.

Members of the Audit Committee

Johan van der Walt CA (SA) – Chairperson

Johann Marnitz – Member

ester Makau – Member

Risk management

the Gauteng Film Commission Board is responsible for 

identifying and addressing the management of all operational 

and financial risks.

the Commission maintains systems and structures of 

internal control that are designed to provide transparency 

and accountability as well as to ensure that the organisation 

operates to the highest standards applicable.

the appointment of a company secretary/legal manager 

has enabled the Commission to place more emphasis on 

strategic matters such as corporate governance and 

migration from a Section 21 to a public entity.

In addition, to monitor internal control more closely and 

regularly, the Commission appointed an internal auditor.
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Award winning architecture at  
turbine Square, newtown. Image courtesy 

of the Forum, turbine Hall and tIBeR
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Organogram
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Gauteng Film Commission organogram

Terry Tselane   Chief Executive Officer

Faith Ramoupi   Personal Assistant to the CEO

Nohlanga Motaung    Company Secretary  

and Legal Manager (Resigned)

Tumi Moncho   Legal Secretary

Elliot Maluleke   Chief Financial Officer

Refilwe Nnani   Finance Officer

Vacant  Finance and Payroll Manager 

Latoya Mokotto   Human Resources Manager

Patricia Mkhaliphi   Office Assistant

Vacant  Human Resources Officer

Rochelle Roscoe  Receptionist
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Vacant  IT Officer

Thabiso Masudubele   Senior Manager: Industry Support  

and Development

Vacant Project Manager: Industry Support  

 and Development

Kgomotso Tabane   Audience Development Officer

Nthabeleng Phora   Unit Coordinator

Jacques Stoltz  Senior Manager: Marketing and Research

Tumi Ntshingila  Communications Manager

Puisano Phatoli   Marketing Manager

Seitiso Mogoshane   Information Officer

Sebastian Ndayi   Research Manager



the Gauteng audio-visual industry plays a vital role in 

growing a ‘smart’ economy, a creative economy that not 

only attracts cultural workers and quality jobs, but also 

contributes to economic growth and social upliftment. 

With an annual contribution in excess of R2.5 billion and 

direct employment of more than 8 500 workers, the film 

industry continues to play a significant role in the provincial 

economy. It must be noted that due to the nature of the 

industry, many more thousands are employed in a freelance 

capacity in the province alone.

the Gauteng audio-visual industry encompasses a range 

of creative production activities including film, tV and 

documentary production, commercials, stills photography 

and multimedia.  there are two main streams: the 

facilitation and provision of logistical and technical services 

for foreign productions, and the local production of South 

African commercials, tV, documentaries and feature films.

Value chain

estimates suggest that more than 70% of the filming and 

television industry in South Africa is based in Gauteng, 

mainly in Johannesburg. the province offers support services, 

production companies, equipment, supplies and facilities, 

casting and crew as well as post-production companies and 

pre-production, research and development services.

Gauteng accounts for the bulk of tV production in South 

Africa. While this means that 7 out of the top 10 most 

watched SA tV shows are Gauteng produced, it also 

means that the national broadcaster dominates tV 

production in the province, which leaves the industry 

unduly exposed.  

Operating
environment
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Maude Street, Sandton CBD
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On the commercial productions front, the Province has a 

large slice of the market (46,45%), closely followed by the 

Western Cape, while research conducted by the Commercial 

Producers Association of South Africa (CPA) reaffirms not 

only the important economic contribution of the sector to 

Gauteng, but also the significant contribution of the industry 

to related sectors such as tourism and hospitality.

Gauteng accounted for a large proportion of all local film 

productions in 2008  and is strong in the initial stages of the 

value chain – pre-production, production and post-production 

– although access to distribution channels remains a constraint.

The versatility of Gauteng, its position as the economic hub 

of South Africa, and the abundance of fascinating historical 

stories and heritage sites, as well as versatility of locations, is 

resulting in the Province gaining popularity as a location for 

co-productions. Complementing these factors are the readily 

available and experienced skills base, as well as an attractive 

rebate, leading to an increasing number of co-productions and 

international productions being filmed in Gauteng.

Recent productions that have been filmed in Gauteng 

include the second and third series of Wild at Heart (shot 

on location at Glen Afric Safari Lodge, as well as the US pilot 

version, Life is Wild), Leon Schuster’s Mr. Bones II, Jozi H (a 

Canadian-South African co-production), Rough (starring 

Judy Davis), Skin (with Sam Neill and Alice Krige), the local 

blockbuster Jerusalema as well as the yet to be released 

District 9 – a Peter Jackson (of the Lord of the Rings fame) 

project filmed on location in Soweto. The Province has also 

been used by Hollywood luminaries such as Mira Nair for 

Amelia (expected to be released in 2009), Terry George 

with Hotel Rwanda, Phillip Noyce for Catch a Fire and most 

recently Clint Eastwood and Warner Bros. Pictures’ as-yet-

untitled drama on Nelson Mandela and South Africa’s 1995 

World Cup rugby story. In addition more than 340 

commercials were filmed in Gauteng last year, and close to 

R1 billion worth of local programming commissioned 

annually by the broadcasters.

Production trends
The film and TV industry is notoriously difficult to track, as 

its work is fluid, with people moving in and out of the 

industry, and a high percentage of freelance work. At present, 

the only readily available data in Gauteng comes from 

permit data, film lab data (published by Screen Africa), the 

CPA annual survey, as well as the annual box office results 

published by Ster-Kinekor.  In addition, the US-based Internet 

Movie Database (IMDB) is arguably the world’s largest 

production database.

During the 2008/2009 financial year, 213 film permit 

applications were processed, a drop of 13,4% compared to 

the previous year, with analysis showing that this drop was 

Operating environment
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largely due to the traditional ‘low season’ starting earlier in 

2008 than in 2007, with the period October to December 

2008 reporting the most dramatic drop of permitted 

applications, with a 33% reduction in applications. The busiest 

period moved from October to August, while December 

remained the least busy production month. Interestingly, 

short films appear to be thriving with a dramatic increase of 

300% reflecting for permits for short films.

While 2008 saw less permits issued, there was a slight 

increase in the number of total location shoots as slightly 

more locations were used in 2008 than in 2007. 

Johannesburg continued to grow its share of location filming, 

utilising publicly controlled locations, in Gauteng, with 95% 

(2007 – 92%) of location shoots. While most location shoots 

in the Province are urban (in line with global trends), it must 

be noted that many shoots involving privately owned 

locations, particularly on the West Rand, occur regularly but 

are not included in the the GFC’s production data as they 

generally do not require public filming permits or traffic 
control. The 5 top suburbs for location filming are, in 
descending order, Johannesburg CBD, Braamfontein, Soweto, 
Newtown and Houghton.

A worrying trend appears to be the dramatic drop in the 
total number of shoot days reported (from 525 in 2007 to 
383 in 2008) in the GFC’s permit logs.  While it is too early 
to confirm a particular reason for this drop, it could be 
ascribed to the big drop in the number of TV productions  
as TV productions usually happen over longer timeframes.  

Commercials production
Commercials production dominates both the number of 
permits issued and the number of total shoot days utilised, 
and continues to represent a sizeable share of the Gauteng 
film industry.

The results of the CPA Survey 2008 indicate that the sector 
continues to produce a relatively stable number of commercials, 

using more shoot days, for higher budgets per commercial.  

“GFC is giving marketing support to the release of locally made content.  
Matatu [producer of Jerusalema] is thankful for the backing, saying the 
commission came on board ‘not only with marketing and PR weight, but also 
with hard cash to create materials such as trailers, posters, subtitling and so on’.”
The Argus Weekender, �� August �00� 
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Although the number of local (originated by SA agencies 
and produced by SA director based production companies) 
and service (originated by foreign agencies, produced by 
foreign production companies with the assistance of SA 
service companies) have decreased, the International/South 
Africa commercials (originated by foreign agencies, which 
are produced and directed by SA director based companies) 
market grew, as did the use of South African directors on a 
year-by-year basis.

The Commercial Producers Industry Survey 2008 is based 
on income derived from commercial production in the 
period 1 May 2007 to 30 April 2008.  As the survey sample 
comprises 32 commercial production companies, members 
of the CPA, it is assumed that expenditure, income and 
turnover by the entire industry is at least and definitely 
more than what is presented by the survey results. The total 
billable value for all commercial productions during  
the 2007/2008 period was just under R765 million  
(R764 411 503.41), while expenditure measured totalled 
over R555 million (R555 375 595.69).

The respondents reported that they produced 727 
commercials in the 2007/2008 period, including 13 
commercials shot in High Definition, totalling 1603 shoot 
days, an average of 2,20 days per commercial.  The average 
budget per commercial, for all types produced, was just over 
R1million (R1 051 460.11)

Interesting trends appear to be developing when evaluating 
the respondents who have participated over all four years 
of the survey (a total of 20 member companies). A key 
finding is that for the first time since the survey, the results 
for 2007/2008 reflect an increase in International/South 
Africa commercials.  

In addition, an increasing amount of work is being originated 

from outside South Africa, with the International/South 

African commercials market growing and South African 

directors being used on an increasing basis year-on-year for 

participating companies. 

Mostly due to a large increase in International/SA billable 

value, 2007/2008 showed a notable increase in total billable 

value for all types of commercials over 2005/2006. This follows 

the small increases of 2006/2007 from the previous year.

It remains to be seen though what the impact of the global 

economic crisis is going to be on production volumes. What 

is positive is that Johannesburg/Gauteng is increasingly being 

recognised as a value for money and film-friendly production 

centre while Gauteng’s crew is also rated as globally 

competitive.  

Other data

Film lab data reveals a dramatic increase of 58,3% (876 in 

2007/2008 to 1387 in 2008/2009) in the numbers of 

productions processed by Johannesburg labs, and while 

Cape Town emerged as a service and post production 

centre for international features and commercials, 

Johannesburg dominates in the documentary sector.

Box office data supplied by Ster-Kinekor shows that the 

majority of local productions released in 2008 utilised 

Gauteng locations or were produced in the Province.

Spatial distribution of the industry

The film and TV industry is located predominantly along a 

corridor linking the two main broadcast hubs around the 

SABC headquarters in Auckland Park and Multichoice in 

Randburg. 

This includes most of the educational institutions supporting 

the industry. More than 31 schools, colleges and universities 

servicing the industry are based in Gauteng.

Operating environment

“The Gauteng Film Commission is proactive and a pleasure to work with.”
Bobby Amm, Executive Officer of the Commercial Producers Association (CPA)



AnnuAl RepoRt 2009 GAutenG FIlM CoMMISSIon I ��

Cullinan



�� I GAutenG FIlM CoMMISSIon AnnuAl RepoRt 2009

Diagonal Street, Johannesburg CBD



Gauteng is strong in technical infrastructure, particularly in 
the Auckland Park-Randburg corridor and the Province has 
a competitive edge due to the clustering of TV and local film 
producers. Local producers are attracted to the Province 
because of its good business environment, advanced 
infrastructure (technical and public) and its skills set. In 
addition, there are more than 30 industry bodies including 
unions and industry associations active in the Province.

Consumer access to media
Countrywide, new content delivery channels are growing 
rapidly due to the falling prices of DVD players, computers 
and cell phones. Local movie theatres may face growing 
competition from these alternative content delivery 
channels, especially if ticket prices continue to rise. 

Cinema
Most cinema complexes are located in the more wealthy 
suburbs of Johannesburg and Tshwane while inner-city 
cinema complexes are increasingly attracting a younger 
generation of new cinema goers. This weak distribution 
network means large parts of peri-urban communities have 
no access to commercial cinemas. 

Movie theatres owners are opening new complexes in 
previously under-serviced areas, such as the eight cinema 
complex in Soweto’s Maponya Mall. 

tV
TV viewership was around 83.4% of the population, having 
risen from 78.8% in 2007.

Internet
The SABC reported that SA internet use more than 
doubled from May 2005 to May 2007. In May 2007, there 
were 3.9 million active SA unique browsers. The internet 
population is made up of 54% male and 45% female users. 
People aged between 25 and 34 make up the largest part of 
users, accounting for some 36% of the online population. 

SA Media Facts 2008 reports that 6% of the population had 
accessed the internet in 2005, rising to 6.4% in 2006 and to 
8.1% in 2008, representing 5.1 million users.

DVD players

Audiences have enjoyed the availability of cheaper DVD 

players (now even sold in supermarkets), a decline in DVD 

retail and rental prices, as well as increased Internet access 

to pirated movies in recent years. The percentage of the 

population in SA with DVD players rose from 9% in 2004 

to 31% in 2006.

In South Africa, movie sales account for 60% of the country’s 

DVD market, costing the industry an annual R500-million in 

piracy. For post-production projects, security and access to 

facilities is a big issue due to this piracy. Shortening the 

theatre to DVD window in the country would be a key 

measure to mitigate the threat of piracy.

Mobile phones

Research has shown South Africa to have 83% penetration 

of mobile phones, with 34 million active handsets and 70% 

of these phones being data capable. Mobile usage cuts 

across LSM categories, age groups, genders and rural/urban 

demographics.

Cinema attendance + box office 
Gauteng has the largest and wealthiest cinema audiences in 

South Africa with cinema theatres boasting a combined 

seating capacity of more than 22 000 seats. South African 

cinema theatres had 745 cinema screens in 2007, with the 

largest concentration around Johannesburg. Ster Kinekor, 

which is part of the Primedia group, and Nu Metro, which is 

part of the Johnnic group, have over 126 screens in Gauteng. 

Cinema attendance has not shown substantial growth in 

recent years, which is likely to indicate the effect of 

substitutes, advances in technology and the role of piracy.

Financial incentives and tax breaks
The Film & TV Production Incentive is offered by the 

Department of Trade and Industry of SA and has two focus areas: 

Location Film and TV Production Incentive Scheme which is 

aimed at attracting large-budget overseas film and television 

Operating environment
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Operating environment

productions to SA: the incentive is only available to foreign-

owned productions with Qualifying South African Production 

Expenditure (QSAPE) of R2 million and above. It provides a 

rebate of 15% of the QSAPE to qualifying productions. The 

following formats qualify: feature films, telemovies, TV drama 

series, documentaries, animation and short form animations.

The South African Film & TV Production and Co-Production 

Incentive Scheme provides financial support for locally-

owned productions and official treaty co-productions with 

a total production budget of R2,5 million and above. It 

provides a rebate of 35% for the first R6 million and 25% for 

the remainder of the qualifying production expenditure. The 

following formats qualify: feature films, telemovies, TV drama 

series, documentaries, animation and short form animations.

The value of the rebate for any qualifying production is 

capped at a maximum of R10 million.

FIFA World Cup South Africa™

The GFC is closely monitoring the impact of the 

Confederations Cup as well as the FIFA World Cup South 

Africa™ in order to ensure that the Commission is up to 

date with information around locations and access to stadia. 

It is anticipated that some locations, especially the ones 

around the stadiums, will not be accessible during the 

championships and this will affect filming among other 

activities. The GFC is in discussions with the local industry to 

see how disruptions to location filming can be minimised. 

The Commission is also assisting the growing numbers of 

visiting international crew with accessing 2010-related venues.

The events are already having an impact on the Province’s 

technological and infrastructural asset base.  From locations 

to crew to equipment providers and content programming, 

both events offer excellent potential benefits to the Gauteng 

audio-visual industry. Without doubt, these events will 

significantly assist in raising the international profile of the 

Province as well as ‘Brand South Africa’. The challenge is for 

South Africa to show the world our locally made stories.

Beyond �0�0

While South Africa has become a globally competitive 

services sector, with an excess of R1,5 billion worth of 

foreign productions and co-productions over the past three 

years produced in SA, local productions are struggling.  

Although the new DTI rebate scheme was met with much 

excitement, it appears that local producers have not yet 

responded to this major opportunity. As an industry, the 

capacity is in place to produce 25 local features per annum 

– a not unrealistic target taking into account the DTI rebate 

and other funding programmes.  The challenge is how to get 

the rebate and other available funds into the hands of local 

producers so that the industry can produce a sustainable 

volume of local productions.

While the global economic crisis will undoubtedly have a 

dampening effect on the industry, indicating the need for 

caution, there is cause for optimism.  Local filmmakers are of 

the opinion that the Academy win of Tsotsi changed 

perspectives within the industry about the type of films that 

can be made in SA. This has been re-inforced by recent 

productions such as Jerusalema, which have shown that local 

films can resonate with local audiences.

“The attention South Africa is likely to enjoy both during and following the 
World Cup will further strengthen the area’s increasingly positive reputation 
amongst international filmmakers.”
The Location Guide, �� March �00� (international resource for global location filming)



•  The film and TV industries support Gauteng’s shift from a 
primary manufacturing economy to a knowledge-based 
service economy;

•  It is becoming increasingly acknowledged both internationally 
and nationally that the film and TV industries can be an 
important economic engine – and the sector is therefore 
recognised as a priority sector in terms of the National 
Industrial Development Framework; 

•  In many comparable international markets, the film and TV 
industry has reported faster than average employment 
growth;

•  Investment in film and TV results in direct investment in 
intellectual capital and product that can result in a return 
on investment for many years to come;

•  The industry attracts and retains highly-educated and 
highly-skilled people in a variety of well-paid, quality and 
‘green’ jobs. Compared to the rest of South Africa, Gauteng 
has the highest proportion of such workers and retaining 
this intellectual capital therefore becomes a strategic 
imperative for the long-term competitiveness of the 
Province in the wider media and entertainment sectors. 
However, the Western Cape, KwaZulu-Natal, Mpumalanga, 
Eastern Cape and Free State have all identified film as 
areas of investment and are introducing measures to 
attract more productions as well as skilled workers i.e. the 

Cape Town Film Studios. In the region, Namibia, Mauritius, 
Mozambique, Reunion, Nigeria and Kenya are also now 
actively pursuing a greater market share and are increasingly 
offering attractive incentives as a result;

•  While employment in the sector is highly skilled, entry 
barriers are low with many workers being able to start at 
the bottom and work their way up the industry ranks 
while acquiring highly specialised skills on the way;

•  The Province is well placed to capitalise on existing 
investment, infrastructure and scarce skills in order to 
become an African centre of excellence in innovative and 
creative media and entertainment content creation;

•  The film and TV industry plays a major role in building the 
profile of ‘Brand Gauteng’ and ‘Destination Gauteng’ and is 
a major contributor to provincial tourism receipts as it  
is a massive consumer of transportation, hospitality, 
accommodation and catering services; and

•  ICT, broadcast and media infrastructure expansion is 
contingent upon the ongoing availability of affordable, 
quality and locally owned content. In the absence of such 
content, the Province will merely import its content 
requirements from abroad thus driving up net outflows as 
a result of ‘imports’ as opposed to generating new ‘export’ 
markets and the revenue inflows this could potentially 
result in.
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Why the Film and TV industry is 
important to Gauteng
As the GFC’s core business is to facilitate and enhance the contribution of 
the industry to the economic growth of the Province, the Commission has 
investigated, researched and acquired extensive knowledge regarding the 
industry sector.  This has led to a far deeper and clearer understanding of  
just why the film and TV industry is necessary to the growth of the Province  
and why residents of Gauteng should support a film-friendly environment and 
culture. The bullets below serve to highlight these reasons:
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INDUSTRY SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT

the strategic objectives of this unit include cultivating 

diverse and distinct local content; fostering a cinema-going 

culture through the development of distribution channels 

such as township and micro cinemas; actively assisting 

previously disadvantaged individuals (pDIs), with a 

particular focus on youth, women and people with 

disabilities, to participate in the industry; facilitating finance 

and the continued growth and development of the 

industry, including infrastructural development of the 

sector; and supporting training and development initiatives 

within the Gauteng industry.

Industry support and development is thriving at the 

Gauteng Film Commission, with the unit actively involved and 

successfully supporting 45 innovative and exciting projects.  

Training and skills development

the GFC continues to actively contribute to the 

professional development of emergent pDI writers, 

directors and producers by partnering with industry, 

training and education bodies, such as AFDA and Big Fish 

School of Digital Filmmaking, as well as quality assurance 

authorities; facilitating internship and mentoring 

programmes; co-ordinating and facilitating appropriate 

enterprise assistance programmes; targeting initiatives to 

address specific needs and skills areas; and assisting pDI 

screen content creators to participate effectively in local 

and international festivals.

During the year under review, 15 training and development 

initiatives were supported benefitting 17 146 participants 

in training programmes covering animation, low budget 

filmmaking, the business of film, screen writing, production, 

editing, the basics of filmmaking, master classes and more.
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township street life, ekurhuleni
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One of the exciting new initiatives, started by youth for 

youth, is Filmmaking Youth Taking Action, to encourage young 

people to make films regardless of budgets or other 

constraints. This launched with a FYTA Film Festival in 

Johannesburg in June, featuring a Mexico/SA collaboration 

aimed at igniting the passion of young filmmakers. Over 125 

students attended the inaugural event, which demonstrated 

how film can be a transformer of society, and offered free 

workshops while showcasing opportunities. 

The GFC continued to support an animation production 

training initiative by Anamazing Workshop, one of the 

country’s leading animation companies, which is a high tech 

arts program developed to address specific problems facing 

a local animations industry. The initiative produces 13 x 5 

minutes short animated, culturally experimental films on an 

annual basis.

Realising the importance of encouraging an active writing 

culture that will generate South African stories told by South 

Africans, the GFC supported a scriptwriting programme, 

involving some 60 students, by the South African Scriptwriting 

Institute, an organisation with over 300 members, constituting 

active and aspirant scriptwriters.

Content development and distribution projects

A total of 22 content development and distribution projects 

were supported benefitting 20 emerging production 

companies. With crew sizes ranging between four and 10 

on average per project, it means that over 100 indirect jobs 

were supported during the production stages. Adding 

development and post-production work it is estimated that 

in total 20 – 30 job opportunities were created as a result 

per production. It is therefore estimated that 550 individual 

job opportunities resulted from the 22 projects. 

Productions supported included TV series, documentaries, 

short films, feature films and student productions. These 

included TOM Pictures’ Jesus and the Giant (which screened 

“The Gauteng Film Commission was extremely helpful and arranged the 
JMPD to give permission for use of the roads etc. We shot a beach scene  
in the Johannesburg CBD – people in costumes with beach umbrellas, can 
you believe it!”
Johnny Mabeba, Production Manager at Picture Tree, a Johannesburg-based boutique commercials production company

Performance summary
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at the Toronto Film Festival), Meadowlands (a feature 

currently in pre-production), Triomf (an award winning film 

that received rave reviews locally and internationally), Tumelo 

(a short film screened at numerous local and international 

film festivals), 6 x 24 minute documentaries as part of the 

Filmmakers Against Racism project, White Wedding (local 

box office hit) and Jerusalema (local box office hit).

Following the formation of Filmmakers Against Racism after 

the xenophobic attacks in South Africa in 2008, the GFC 

lent its support to the production of six 24 minute 

documentaries inspired by the attacks. Four of these were 

screened, and discussed, at the 2009 Berlinale Forum at the 

prestigious 59th Berlin International Film Festival in February 

2009. The films were then selected for European festivals 

such DOC Leipzig, Germany, the Human Rights Festival in 

Paris, the Human Rights Festival in Bolognia, Italy and another 

in Greece, among others.

For the past two years the GFC has been working with local 

independent filmmakers around introducing creative 

content creation that is linked to an alternative distribution 

model. This has resulted in projects such as Jerusalema and 

White Wedding which have shown that local demand not 

only exists but that local films can be financially viable as a 

result of this demand.

Audience development 
In excess of 11 424 people were reached through 8 

audience development initiatives, including Season III of 

Gauteng Bioscope, a GFC strategy to take cinema back to 

the streets. This follows two approaches, one around utilising 

multipurpose centres in the townships to create interactive 

sessions where people can go to free screenings and also 

engage with filmmakers, and the other targeting Black 

Diamonds, encouraging them to go to the cinema.

The community screenings kicked off with Vincent Moloi’s  

A Pair of Boots and a Bicycle in Mamelodi.  Season III involved 

11 townships across Gauteng, with screenings at 21 

multipurpose Thusong community centres. At the free 

screenings, which focus on local content supported by the 

GFC, filmmakers were invited to attend and talk about 

filmmaking.  

The second approach involved intimate screenings at 

exclusive pubs in the townships, targeting Black Diamonds.  

The approach, of mixing food, music and film, aimed to 

demonstrate the wonder of film, encouraging a love of film 

and a move back to cinemas.  Eight screenings of Jerusalema 

were involved to a total audience of over 650 people.

A key component of audience development involves 

support of festivals aimed at engaging audiences, particularly 

youth, women and under resourced communities, as well as 
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encouraging networking within the industry, aspirant 

filmmakers and an African screen culture. 

Financial support was given to seven festivals and markets, 

namely Encounters Documentary Film Festival, Tri 

Continental Film Festival, Soweto Arts Festival, Bafundi Film 

& TV Festival, Input 2008, Newtown Women in Arts Festival 

and Africa on Screen film festival. In addition, two innovative 

and active film clubs were supported namely First 

Wednesday Film Club and Coal Stove.

The GFC continued its support of the Bafundi Film & 

Television Festival, aimed at promoting student filmmakers 

in South Africa, as it is strongly supportive of initiatives that 

seek to develop emerging talent in the industry. Students 

are the future of the industry and it is critical that they have 

avenues in which to both show their work as well as 

network with others in the industry.

The two film clubs supported by GFC aim to provide a 

platform for exposure of independent filmmakers as well as 

a networking forum for those in the film and TV industry, 

enabling critical engagement between filmmakers.  

As part of the Passing the Torch Awards, an initiative run  

by the Gauteng Department of Economic Development 

that demonstrates the Province’s commitment to the 

empowerment of women, the GFC continues with its 

sponsorship of the Women in Film Award.  The Award, this 

year presented to Kgomotso Matsunyane of T.O.M. Pictures, 

is presented to a woman who through her endurance and 

the excellence of her work in the film industry has 
contributed to the film industry in Gauteng and helped 
expand the role of women in the industry.  

MARKETING AND INFORMATION 
MANAGEMENT
The year under review has seen significant strides being 
made by the GFC in positioning the Province as a location 
destination and in providing the local industry with  
the necessary support to grow and develop a stronger 
audio-visual sector both in the Province and nationally.  

The key focus areas of the marketing and information 
activities have been:
•  To market Gauteng as an internationally-recognised centre 

for film, television and commercials production;
•  To promote the GFC as a full-service office for all 

filmmaking needs;
•  To communicate the Commission’s value proposition:  

‘Big Ideas. Perfect Locations’;
•  To promote ‘Location Gauteng’ – the Gauteng audio-visual 

industry is located in the heart of South Africa’s media, 
entertainment, communications, creative, financial and 
business clusters, while also offering easy access to the 
continent’s great natural and cultural landscapes.

It is important to note that all branding of Gauteng as a 
desired film destination has been carried out in alignment 
with the broader image-building of ‘Brand SA’ and ‘Brand 
Gauteng’. The marketing strategy over the past year has 
specifically focused on:

“Local producers single out the Gauteng Film Commission (GFC) for praise. 
“They were extremely supportive and helpful on District 9. With the GFC 
and the National Film and Video Foundation, we really felt like we had  
friends in government,” says Michael Murphey of Kalahari Pictures, which  
co-produced District 9.”
Article in Variety, top international film publication

Performance summary
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•  Making business easier by removing obstacles and red tape;

• Focusing resources and aligning initiatives;

• Brokering and disseminating information;

•  Constant monitoring to ensure objectives are being met; 

and

•  Participation and partnership to avoid dilution and 

maximise limited resources.

Encouraging a film culture

Working with limited resources, the GFC has continued to 

work towards encouraging a film culture in Gauteng and 

has productively engaged with government entities to 

establish strong channels of communication regarding 

production activity in and around the Province, to the 

benefit of the entire industry.

It is only by showing the economic value that accrues from 

our audio-visual industries that the industry can successfully 

lobby for a more conducive environment for film. To this 

end, during the past year, the GFC continued its dialogue 

with municipalities to ensure that unhelpful red tape is 

eliminated and that locations remain accessible and 

competitively priced. During the year, the GFC set up 

officially structured channels of communication with key 

municipal and provincial players.  This was achieved via direct 

meetings and special events, including targeted screenings. 

The Commission is now able to raise concerns with various 

government representatives and is starting to demonstrate 

how the industry can add significant benefit to the Province, 

with support from all levels of government.

The Gauteng Film Permit Framework was adopted and as a 

result, the GFC has implemented a number of programmes.  

In addition, a Statement of Intent and Code of Practice has 

“We are truly grateful to have forged a wonderful relationship with your office, 
allowing us to call upon you for assistance with location permits and logistical 
support throughout the filming period (of the mini series Angel) in Gauteng. 
In often difficult locations requiring community support and unconventional 
requirements, you and your team were always helpful and dedicated to 
ensuring we had all the key stakeholders informed and behind us all the way.”
Cheryl Eatock, Production Manager, Film Afrika, on behalf of Film Afrika Worldwide and Tiger Aspect Productions UK

Performance summary
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been developed, in conjunction with the industry, and will 

be further work-shopped with industry during 2009.

The GFC continues to proactively lobby the City of 

Johannesburg and other key stakeholders to ensure that 

location pressure points are identified and addressed. A 

Draft Management Arrangements between the GFC and 

the Johannesburg Metropolitan Police Department (JMPD) 

and between the GFC and the Ekurhuleni Metropolitan 

Police Department (EMPD) are currently with the respective 

authorities for approval and will serve to facilitate and 

promote easy and timely access to locations.

To assist in speeding up processes, standardised film permit 

processes and procedures were developed and have been 

implemented, including an electronic on-line facility on the 

GFC website. Practically, to facilitate and promote easy and 

timely access to locations, the GFC holds fortnightly 

meetings with the JMPD regarding implementation of the 

permit framework, while a working group on filming has 

been established between the GFC and the Ekurhuleni 

metropolitan municipality. In addition, the GFC has appointed 

an Information Officer, who is responsible for assisting 

regarding location and filming inquiries. These activities have 

resulted in permit applications being forwarded to the 

relevant authorities within 24 hours and approved within 48 

hours, depending on the complexity of the shoot, a vast 

improvement on the past.

Enhancing local awareness

To encourage use of Gauteng locations and promote key 

areas as film-friendly, the GFC has instituted a Film Friendly 

Zone location incentive programme, with Newtown being 

the first partner brought onto the programme this year. 

Research shows that Newtown is one of Johannesburg’s 

most used locations, including productions such as Tsotsi, 

Jerusalema and e-TV’s soapie Scandal. The Newtown ‘film 

friendly zone’ seeks to strengthen the existing strong 

associations that Newtown enjoys as home to cultural 

productions while simultaneously boosting the local 

economy. Through such programmes, the GFC and its 

partners aim to sensitise local businesses and property 

owners of the value of film and in particular the benefits of 

allowing productions easy access to properties and 

amenities. With increased film activity, local businesses stand 

to gain from increased patronage.

A major component of our local awareness campaign was 

reaching out to the Cape producers, to educate this sector 

on the very real benefits offered by Gauteng with its ‘can do’ 

attitude.  In partnership with the CPA, and facilitated by The 

Filmmakers Guide to SA, the GFC hosted a networking 

breakfast for Cape-based producers to discuss location 

options in Gauteng and strengthen relations between the 

GFC and the Cape production industry. Research shows 

that Gauteng is rapidly growing its share of service work 
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from Cape-based producers and the workshop aimed to 

update producers on the latest developments in Gauteng in 

respect to permit facilitations, location support, a hotlist of 

readily available locations, the variety of options available in 

regional Gauteng, outside of Johannesburg, and initiatives to 

ensure Gauteng remains film-friendly.

Communicating the broader location options is important 

to promoting the whole region as data has shown that of 

Gauteng’s locations, the Johannesburg inner city remains the 

most popular place for location shoots, utilising publicly 

controlled locations, with 95% of shoots made in Gauteng 

utilising the city’s locations. While most shoots are urban, with 

the CBD, Braamfontein, Soweto, Newtown and Houghton 

being the top 5, many shoots involving privately owned 

locations, particularly on the West Rand, occur regularly. 

Improving research and sector data

The GFC is actively pursuing avenues and channels that 

provide both the Commission and the industry with more 

detailed production information and research in order to 

more accurately evaluate the economic value of the sector, 

as well as the impact of global trends, such as the economic 

downturn, on the Gauteng film industry. During the year 

under review, the GFC again gave support to the Commercial 

Producers Association of South Africa (CPA) 2008 survey, 

which is one of the key sources of comprehensive data on 

the audio-visual sector and provides much-needed business 

intelligence, and also hosted a media and CPA member 

Survey Results breakfast. During the year, a formal research 

partnership was entered into with the CPA.  

The GFC continues to lobby other bodies to conduct similar 

research and to investigate ways in which it can collaborate 

with these bodies. 

To expand its research programme and analyse production 

trends in the 2008 – 2009 production year, the GFC is 

compiling a 2008 Gauteng Production Report, to be 

released in May 2009. Production data, in the form of permit 

data and film lab data, is being tracked on a monthly basis. It 

is important to note that the film and TV industry is 

notoriously difficult to track, as by its very nature, production 

work is fluid with people moving in and out of the industry.  

In addition, most work is done on a freelance basis with 

international studies suggesting that employment is 

becoming increasingly casual.

Towards the end of the year under review, the GFC 

appointed a Research Manager, who is developing a research 

plan to further augment the above activities. 

Location Gauteng

To market ‘Location Gauteng’, the GFC hosted 5 international 

delegations (India, Brazil, Kenya, US and the Netherlands) 

Performance summary
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and one national visiting delegation on inbound buyer 

missions and familiarisation trips. These form a crucial tool 

for promoting the Province and the SA audio-visual industry, 

and will continue to be a priority in the next financial year, 

depending on third party funding. Discussions are underway 

with the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI), the 

National Film and Video Foundation (NFVF) and other film 

commissions to implement programmes during 2009/2010, 

including the hosting of German, US and Japanese delegations.

Outbound missions

Outbound missions to key markets and festivals are 

necessary to ensure a strategic and brand presence for GFC 

and Gauteng but are always carefully evaluated for maximum 

impact and benefit before being supported. In the last 

financial year, GFC had a strong presence at the Cannes Film 

Festival, Cannes Lions International Advertising Festival and 

the AFCI Locations Trade Show 2008 in Santa Monica, 

California, as well as attending the Hollywood Media 

Exchange.  At each of these events, the GFC presented and 

disseminated informative, targeted, integrated collateral.  

Included were a fact sheet on Gauteng, a locations brochure, 

a showreel showcasing Gauteng as a leading destination as 

well as a source for quality pre and post production skills and 

facilities, and DVD box sets, all consistently branded to work 

stylishly together to reinforce the GFC and Gauteng brand.

With the global media interest in the country as a result of 

the Confederations Cup and 2010 FIFA World Cup South 

Africa, the GFC has taken active steps to capitalise on this, 

ensuring both prospective and visiting media and 

international crew have access to the information they need 

for successful trips. One step was the compilation of detailed 

guidelines, posted on the GFC website, regarding locations 

and public filming requirements in the Province, obtaining 

FIFA accreditation and how to access an audio-visual 

industry sector database of service providers and specialist 

services. The guidelines have been well received, receiving a 

high number of hits on the website and a number of follow-up 

inquiries to the Commission.  

Increasing recognition and awareness

It has been gratifying this year to note not only the expanding 

awareness of the role of the GFC within the media and 

industry, but also increasing recognition of the Commission 

as accessible, proactive and involved. The media and the 

GFC website played a crucial role in this, reflecting the 

success of the GFC’s PR campaign.

The GFC’s monthly media hit rate underwent a 325% 

growth between 2008 and 2007, with the majority of 

coverage relating to Gauteng-based productions, locations, 

festivals and awards, followed by corporate news and then 

industry development. In terms of the GFC’s media 
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reputation, an independent review by Monitoring SA shows 

that the GFC’s media reputation is healthy, achieving an 

average reputation score of 69% compared to 57% in 2006.  

The same study also shows that the GFC’s media reach has 

increased from roughly 2 million page impressions in 2007 

to a staggering 6 million in 2008.

In terms of advertising, the GFC spent less on above-the-

line advertising in 2008 than in 2007 but due to much more 

targeted advertising, this spend resulted in a 3% growth in 

page impressions.

Of all the media channels, the web has proven the most 

effective:

One of the key tools on the website is the monthly In Focus 

newsletter, which has experienced a 46% growth in 

requested subscribers over the past financial year, and has 

been grown in size, range of content and reach. Several new 

informative features have been added, including:

•  Perfect Locations, showcasing different Gauteng locations;

• Hot Shots, showcasing local talent;

 2007 2008 percentage
    year-on-year 
   change

Average monthly  
unique visitors:  
Gauteng Film Directory 1012 1978 96%

Average monthly unique  
visitors: GFC website 1542 3346.67 117%

Total annual hits:  
Gauteng Film Directory 169 392 244 078 44%

Total number monthly  
recipients of GFC  
‘In Focus’ newsletter  
(as at December) 2397 3503 46%

•  Shot in Gauteng, featuring locally made material; and

•  Made in Gauteng, profiling various manufacturers, suppliers 

and services catering specifically to the film and television 

industry in Gauteng.

The website is constantly being revamped to provide 

valuable online tools, become more user-friendly and 

contain more up-to-date content. The most significant 

enhancements are the addition of an online permit 

application process, and online location finder, both of which 

will be live by mid 2009. The average monthly unique visitors 

to the GFC website grew by 116% to 3 346 in the year 

under review.

The Film Indaba 2008

Over 550 delegates attended the second annual Film Indaba, 

hosted by the GFC, in November 2008, doubling the 

number of participants from the previous year and making 

this the premier event in the audio-visual sector  The Indaba, 

Performance summary
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with the theme of Beyond 2010, brought together key role-

players to explore and discuss a sustainable local film 

industry. It attracted audio-visual industry representatives, 

media, community, government officials, politicians, business and 

funders/financiers to engage in constructive dialogue on a 

number of innovative, developmental and sustainability topics.

CNBC Africa and GFC partnership

The Gauteng Film Commission, acting on behalf of the 

Gauteng Provincial Government, entered into a partnership 

agreement with CNBC Africa in order to secure CNBC 

Africa’s main studios and operating facilities in Gauteng.  

Since the establishment of the studios in Johannesburg, a 

number of benefits have accrued to the Province, notably:

•  Foreign direct investment in the Gauteng audio-visual and 

provincial economy and the creation of over 140 

permanent jobs, as well as more than 200 personnel 

trained in financial journalism, graphics, technical and 

television management.;

• Total investment of R175 million secured;

•  CNBC is an international brand that is globally the most 

recognised and respected business news and information 

brand, as it is owned by NBC Universal, one of the world’s 

pre-eminent media corporations (CNBC Africa is a 

franchise operation of NBC);

•  CNBC Africa has global affiliations throughout the world 

reaching over 340 million households;

•  CNBC Africa is the first digital, server based television 

“The Film Indaba was a spectacular event especially the pool of industry 
trailblazers you brought and Soul Lab Media Zone is grateful to have been 
part of the event.”
 Mohau Kwebu, Soul Lab Media Zone: Head of Communications

operation to be established in Africa. The station is the 

only network with a video wall in Africa showcasing a 

world class broadcast facility;

•  CNBC Africa is the first network in Sub-Saharan Africa to 

produce 8 hours of Pan African programming daily;

•  CNBC Africa broadcasts to 48 countries in Africa via 

Multichoice Africa;

•  CNBC Africa viewers are the most sought after viewers 

in television: affluent and influential Africans;

•  The content partnership between CNBC Africa and the 

GFC has resulted in significant exposure for the Province;

•  Through its prominence in the African market, CNBC 

Africa is playing a key role in promoting the Gauteng 

audio-visual industry, creating greater awareness of 

production opportunities in the Province;

•  CNBC Africa offers an internship programme for 

previously disadvantaged media students while 85% of 

CNBC Africa staff in South Africa are previously 

disadvantaged individuals.

Management of the GFC 

In terms of management of the GFC, an unqualified audit 

report was achieved for the 2008/2009 financial year, while 

compliance to internal control results in an improved 

opinion rating from the internal auditors.  The GFC Balanced 

Scorecard was finalised, and financial, audit, human resources 

and office administrative functions were implemented and 

improved upon in order to support the strategic imperatives 

of the GFC.
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 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance

To develop and 
implement  
Integrated Marketing 
Plan by marketing and 
supporting:

•  Gauteng made 
content

• Incentives
• Locations
• Content creators
•  Facilities and 

infrastructure
•  Exhibitors, distributors 

and broadcasters
•  Training  

institutions
• Talent
• Festivals
• Support services

To facilitate the 
development and 
distribution of 
appropriate  
Gauteng-specific 
publications and 
promotional  
material  

Marketing Plan developed and 
implemented

75% of surveyed industry 
respondents report awareness 
of GFC, its programmes and 
values

70% of surveyed Gauteng 
industry perceives GFC as 
adding value

Monthly press releases issued

70% of surveyed Gauteng 
industry perceives GFC as 
adding value

Conduct perception surveys

70% of surveyed  respondents 
report positive association 
with Gauteng facilities, 
locations and talent 

More than 2,000 unique 
monthly users of GFC website 
and directory

Publications and collateral plan 
adopted and implemented

Distribution plan adopted and 
implemented

Materials portfolio produced 
and packaged inclusive of:
a)  Locations/Production  

Magazine
b) Rate cards
c) Factsheet
d)  ‘Best of Gauteng’  

show reels
e) Filming Guidelines
f)  Guide to studying 

filmmaking
g) Corporate gifts

Non formalised stock control 
reports

No brand awareness 
surveys were conducted 
during the year due to 
resource constraints. 
Will be carried out 
during 2009/2010

Not applicable

Marketing Plan executed

Marketing partnerships 
formed

Above and below the line 
campaigns executed

Annual brand awareness 
surveys conducted

Publications plan 
developed and executed

Partnerships with key 
publishers/ media/content 
partners formalised  

Materials and content 
commissioned,  produced 
and distributed

Stock management control 
measures adopted and 
executed

2008 Marketing Plan revised, budget  
and programme activities finalised and 
implemented as per Quarterly Reports 

Various marketing partnerships formed as 
reported on in Quarterly Reports

Various above and below the line campaigns 
executed as reported on in Quarterly 
Reports and Annual Marketing Activity 
Report

No brand awareness surveys conducted

Stakeholder and industry feedback  
as reported on in Annual Marketing  
Activity Report

Monthly press releases issued and reported 
on as per Quarterly Reports.

Advertising requirements assessed and 
quarterly advertising schedule completed

Comm plan for local awareness  
compiled with SWOT 

As reported on in Quarterly Reports and 
Annual Marketing Activity Report the GFC 
website had 3,346.67 unique visitors per month 

Comprehensive Annual Marketing  
Activity Report compiled

Publications plan developed as part  
of annual Marketing Plan

A number of partnerships with publishers 
and media partners implemented as 
reported on in Quarterly Reports

Materials and content commissioned  
as reported on in Quarterly Reports

Distribution of material as per quarterly 
plans and reported on in Quarterly Reports

Materials portfolio produced and packaged 
inclusive of:
a) Locations/Production magazine
b) Rate cards
c) Factsheet
d) ‘Best of Gauteng’ show reels
e) Filming Guidelines
f) Guide to studying filmmaking
g) Corporate gifts

Regular stock reviews conducted

Performance summary
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To develop and host 
GFC website and  
on-line directory

Inbound Buyer  
Missions and 
Familiarisation Trips

Complete Phase II 
development of GFC website

User satisfaction survey – 80% 
user  satisfaction

Complete Phase II 
development of GFC website

Host 10 visiting delegations 

3rd party web 
advertising placed on 
hold until all Phase II 
elements have been 
implemented

No awareness surveys 
were conducted during 
the year as it was 
decided to wait until 
Phase II developments 
have been up and 
running for 6 months

While some hosting 
programmes were 
implemented not all 
planned programmes 
could be implemented 
due to 3rd party 
funding not being 
available. Discussions 
are underway with 
DTI, NFVF and other 
film commissions to 
implement programmes 
during 2009/2010 
including the hosting of 
a German delegation, 
a US delegation and a 
Japanese delegation

Industry webportal 
and on-line directory 
developed, maintained and 
promoted

Weekly and monthly 
content updates executed 

Web partnership 
guidelines/criteria adopted 
and opportunities for 
advertising revenue 
streams identified

Monthly visitor usage 
activity analysed and 
reported 

Annual industry/user 
surveys conducted

Buyer Mission and Fam Trip 
opportunities identified 
and executed 

NFVF, DTI and other 
investment and marketing 
agencies partnered with 

International content 
creators hosted

Industry webportal and on-line directory 
developed, maintained and promoted.  
Phase II planned and implemented

Monthly and weekly content updates have 
been successfully implemented

3rd party web advertising placed on  
hold until all Phase II elements have  
been implemented

No awareness surveys were conducted 
during the year as it was decided to  
wait until Phase II developments have been 
up and running for 6 months

In Focus newsletter successfully issued  
on monthly basis

Unique user stats as reported on in 
Quarterly Report and Annual Marketing 
Activity Report

Newsletter database has been grown from 
2500 to 3500+

Search Engine Optimisation strategy 
completed and implemented

Web PR campaigns implemented

5 international and 1 national visiting 
delegations were hosted as reported on  
in Quarterly Reports. The international 
delegations were from:
• India
• Brazil
• Kenya
• US
• Netherlands

The GFC are also in discussions with the 
NFVF and Dr. Claudia Rinke – a German 
producer based in SA – regarding the 
hosting of a German delegation in  
2009 to promote Gauteng as location  
as well as to promote co-productions 
between Gauteng and Germany. These  
discussions are at an advanced stage 
and a programme plan for 2009 has been 
drafted

Performance summary

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance
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To ensure strategic and 
brand presence through 
Outbound Missions 
to key markets and 
festivals

Ensure strategic and 
brand presence at 
identified national and 
local industry events

Plan approved by Board and 
executed

70% of surveyed Gauteng 
industry perceives GFC as 
adding value

75% of surveyed industry 
respondents report awareness 
of GFC, its programmes and 
values

70% of surveyed  respondents 
report positive association 
with Gauteng facilities, 
locations and talent

Not applicable

No brand or 
stakeholder awareness 
surveys were conducted 
during the year due to 
resource constraints. 
Will be carried out 
during 2009/2010

Outbound Mission 
calendar and activity plan 
approved and executed

Brand presence at 
identified festivals and 
markets secured

Locations and content 
creators promoted at 
festivals and markets

Leverage and promote 
Gauteng made content at 
identified festivals  
and markets

Marketing partnerships 
formalised and executed 

Brand presence at 
identified and approved 
events

Locations and content 
creators supported and 
promoted at national 
events

Leverage and promote 
Gauteng made content at 
identified events

Leverage PR and Media 
value of national events

Marketing partnerships 
formalised and executed

Outbound Mission calendar and  
activity plan approved and executed.  
(For detailed mission reports refer to 
Quarterly Outbound and Inbound Mission 
Reports)

As reported on in the Quarterly Reports 
and Annual Marketing Activity Report brand 
presence was achieved at identified and 
approved events

As reported on in the Quarterly Reports 
and Annual Marketing Activity Report  
a number of Locations and content creators 
supported and promoted at national events

PR and media value of identified events 
leveraged as per Quarterly Reports and 
Annual Marketing Activity Reports

As per Quarterly Reports and Annual 
Marketing Activity Reports a number  
of Marketing partnerships formalised  
and executed

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance
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To facilitate and 
promote easy and 
timely access to 
locations

50% of surveyed industry 
report significant 
improvements in permit 
processes

MOUs signed and 
implemented

48 hours permit  
application turn  
around time

100 searchable  
locations on-line

24 hour turn-around  
for location enquiry

2010 location service

Delays in signing MOUs 
due to fact that MOUs 
must be signed with 
individual permitting 
authorities and not 
Council. Permitting 
authorities are reluctant 
to formalise agreements 
as they do not want to 
commit to minimum 
service level standards

No formal client surveys 
were conducted 
however the GFC has 
reported a marked 
improvement in the 
permit process and it is 
receiving far less 
complaints as a result 
from filmmakers – 
although there are still 
complaints regarding the 
fee levied by JMPD. This 
has been brought to 
attention of COJ

While the Code of 
Practice was drafted 
during the year industry 
requested that this be 
further workshopped 
during 2009

Gauteng Film Permit 
Framework adopted  
and implemented  

‘Statement of Intent’ and 
‘Code of Practice’ adopted 

Professional location 
information service 
operational  

Standardised film permit 
processes and procedures

MOUs with 3 districts and 
3 metros entered into

Guidelines developed 
regarding appropriate 
permit and location fees

Location incentives 
investigated and  
adopted

Promote and support 
location scouts

2010-readiness guidelines 
developed

The Gauteng Film Permit Framework  
was adopted and GFC has implemented a 
number of programmes as a result

Statement of Intent’ and ‘Code of Practice’ 
developed and to be further workshopped 
with industry during 2009

Professional location information  
service operational  

Standardised film permit processes  
and procedures developed

As reported in Quarterly and Production 
Report GFC facilitated numerous film  
permit applications

Draft Management Arrangement between 
JMPD and EMPD drafted and submitted to 
respective authorities for approval. Await 
approval

The GFC has fortnightly meetings with  
JMPD regarding implementation of the 
permit framework

The GFC and Ekurhuleni metropolitan 
municipality has established a working  
group on filming

Permit applications are forwarded to the 
relevant authorities within 24 hours and 
approved within 48 hours depending on 
complexity of shoot

Appointment of an Information Officer has 
been made and as per policy responds to 
location enquiries usually within 24 hours 
depending on the complexity of enquiry

2010 guidelines developed and issued

GFC lobbies permitting authorities for 
appropriate location fees. See activities  
as reported on in Quarterly Reports and 
Annual Marketing Activity Report

Location incentive in the form of the 
Newtown Film Friendly Zone investigated 
and implemented

GFC promotes location scouts through  
its website and through referrals

The GFC have catalogued hundreds of 
locations which are being loaded on-line

Performance summary

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance
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To provide  
platforms for formalised  
and structured  
stakeholder 
engagement  
and feedback

To successfully host and 
grow an annual Industry 
conference (The 
Gauteng Film Indaba)

To raise public 
awareness of film and 
its social and economic 
benefits

Quarterly meetings of 
Gauteng Film Partnership

Host quarterly industry 
briefings/ networking  
events

Awareness survey of the GFC, 
its programmes and values

Film Indaba attended by 500 
delegates

Campaign formulated and 
implemented

15% of surveyed respondents 
indicate awareness of 
campaign

No brand or 
stakeholder awareness 
surveys were conducted 
during the year due to 
resource constraints. 
Will be carried out 
during 2009/2010

No brand or 
stakeholder awareness 
surveys were conducted 
during the year due to 
resource constraints. 
Will be carried out 
during 2009/2010

Industry sees Gauteng Film 
Partnership operational 
and effective 

Quarterly industry 
networking events hosted

Ad hoc briefings and 
regional campaigns hosted

Participate at provincial 
and regional imbizos, 
roadshows and other 
outreach programmes

Involve DED, Office of 
the Premier, Provincial 
Legislature and other 
political stakeholders  
in GFC programmes

Annual Gauteng Film 
Indaba hosted

‘Film is everyone’s business’ 
campaign developed and 
executed

Marketing Partnerships 
formed and MOUs signed

Above and below-the-line 
campaigns executed

Co-sponsorship for 
awareness campaigns 
secured

11 members have been formally appointed 
to the Gauteng Film Partnership.The 
members are: Richard Nosworthy 
(Independent Producers Organisation), 
Dianne Regisford-Gueye (Talawa 
Communications), Natalie Delport 
(Animation SA), Bobby Amm (Commercial 
Producers Association),  
John Stodel (Scipio Entertainment Group), 
Kelello Molapo (Efbeeye Technologies) , 
Melisia Shinners (National Film, Video and 
Sound Archives of South Africa), Akin 
Omotoso (T.O.M. Pictures), Heather Setzen 
(Hotshots/Consulting Dynamix), David 
Heitner (Revolution Film Partners) and Joy 
Riba (SABC). Regular meetings held as 
reported on in Quarterly Reports. Activities 
are regularly reported on in industry media

A number of industry events have been 
supported, attended and hosted during the 
year as reported in Quarterly Reports

GFC participated at Opening of Legislature 
exhibition held in Newtown as well as 
Imbizos. Members of legislature to be invited 
to special screening of Jerusalema and Triomf

The Film Indaba was held in November 
2008 and a comprehensive report has been 
compiled

‘Film is everyone’s business’ campaign 
developed and a limited number of activities 
have been executed as a result

Above and below the line activities aligned 
with existing marketing activities

Funding request submitted to DED for 
awareness campaigns

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance



�� I GAutenG FIlM CoMMISSIon AnnuAl RepoRt 2009

Performance summary

To research, publish 
and distribute current 
sector intelligence on 
Gauteng by:
a)  Tracking and 

reporting production 
data

b)  Tracking and 
reporting  
economic impact

c)  Tracking and 
reporting 
employment data

d)  Tracking and 
reporting market 
trends

Tracking and reporting 
industry confidence    

Production Report

Industry fact sheet 

Quarterly research 
partnership meetings

Review of economic and 
employment impact data 

1 Production Impact Report 

Due to budget 
constraints only a 
limited number of 
activities were 
implemented during  
the year. A full time 
Research Manager  
only commenced  
with responsibilities  
on 1 January 2009

Annual Research Plan 
adopted and executed 

Annual Film factsheet 
published and distributed

Production data tracked 
and reported

Research Partnership 
formed and functional and 
MOUs signed with relevant 
stakeholders 

Internal data management 
policies and procedures 
adopted and implemented

Ad hoc production impact 
reports completed

Up to date and accessible 
Resource library

Increased independent 
sector research

In 2009 the GFC appointed a Research 
Manager who has commenced the process 
of developing a Research Plan

An industry fact sheet was developed  
during the course of the year. 

Production data in the form of permit data 
and film lab data is being tracked on a 
monthly basis. A consolidated annual  
report will be finalised in May

During the year a formal research 
partnership was entered into with the 
Commercial Producers Association

Internal data management in terms  
of the collection of permit data  
implemented

Due to budget constraints no 
production impact reports were completed

Research resource available on GFC  
public folder

 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance
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Bafana Bafana in the making, ekurhuleni



To support Script 
Development

To support the 
Production 
Development of 
features, short films, 
documentaries and 
television series 

To support Content 
Distribution

To contribute to the 
development of  
an audience for  
the sector and the 
provision of a platform 
for local films

To support the 
development of 
industry  
infrastructure and 
facilities “Film City”

To support skills 
transfer and training 
and development 
initiatives within the 
Gauteng industry

Approved script development 
proposal assessment criteria

To provide advisory and 
financial support to projects 
for script development

The Strategy and Policy 
document to be approved  
and implemented within  
the first quarter 

Support in monetary and  
non-monetary support given 
to Gauteng-related film and 
television projects

Co-funding partnership 
agreement between the GFC 
and the GEP

Supporting, financially and 
non-financially, projects to be 
accessible to as wide a target 
market as possible

Screenings to be implemented 
at select communities around 
Gauteng

Signed agreements and 
support for eligible industry 
training and development 
projects 

Signed agreements with 
production companies for 
Mentorship Programs

Signed agreement with 
relevant partners for the 
“Schools Project”

There is no signed 
agreement with an 
exhibitor as there were 
no exhibitor venues in 
the townships where 
the audience 
development project 
was implemented

The “Business of Film” 
workshop series was 
not implemented as a 
result of the lack of 
internal capacity within 
the GFC

Efficient script 
development proposal 
process

Production ready scripts 
developed for eligible 
proposals

Script Development 
advisory capacity 

Production Development  
Support policy, strategy 
and criteria developed 

Project distribution strategy 
developed

Partnership with exhibitors

Partnership with local and 
international content 
distributors

Partnership with 
independent AD projects

Partnership with script 
development institutions 
and projects

Implementation of training 
and development projects 
for PDI’s

Implementation of 
animation training and 
development initiatives

Implementation of 
Mentorship Program

Implementation of the 
“Schools Project”

Implementation of 
“Business of Film” 
workshop series

Hosting of “refresher” 
workshops

The script development proposal assessment 
criteria document has been finalised, 
approved and implemented

Advisory support was given to various 
projects in relation to the development  
of scripts. A partnership agreement was 
entered into with SASWI (South African 
Scriptwriters Institute) to this end

The Production Development Support 
policy, strategy and criteria document  
has been finalised, approved and 
implemented

Support was given to various Gauteng-
related film and television projects. Support 
was given to these projects at various levels 
of the film production value chain such as 
production and post-production. The GFC  
is developing a library of DVD’s of all GFC-
supported film and television projects

There is no agreement in place between  
the GFC and the GEP

Various activities were undertaken that 
sought to support projects reach a wider 
targeted audience as possible. The specific 
details of each project are detailed in the 
organisational quarterly reports 

Screenings were held in various townships 
around Gauteng in partnership with civil 
society associations. Detailed information  
of the screenings are available in the 
organisational quarterly reports

Signed agreement with various industry 
companies towards training and 
development initiatives

Signed agreement with animation production 
company towards an animation training 
initiative for HDI’s

Agreement with production companies 
towards mentorships programs has not  
been finalised

A partnership has been finalised and entered 
into with a training institution that has seen 
the implementation of a film schools tour 
program

Performance summary
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 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)    variance



Development and 
implementation 
of 5 year Sector 
Development Plan: 
Phase II “Project 
Gaullywood” 

To provide for 
strategic corporate 
entertainment and 
hosting

To attract high level 
of investment in the 
media/broadcasting 
sector

Strategy formally adopted by 
industry

Monitoring and review 
framework formally adopted

Monthly reconciliations of 
expenditure

Await allocation of 
funds from DED for 
commencement of 
Sector Strategy 
development

No advertising was 
secured during 
2008/2009 from  
ring-fenced client  
list. GFC is therefore  
liable for 100%  
of guaranteed 
advertising

Extensive industry 
consultation to investigate 
and adopt sector strategy

Strategy formally adopted

Partnerships formalised to 
drive implementation

Monitoring and review 
framework adopted and 
implemented

Ad hoc hosting 
programme coordinated 
by the Office of the CEO

Minimise contractual 
guaranteed advertising 
liabilities arising from 
CNBC Africa contract

TOR has been drafted for development of 
Sector Strategy. Business case has been 
submitted to DED to secure required 
funds. DED approved the project in  
early 2009 but GFC still awaits release 
of funds

CNBC Africa successfully launched  
1 June 2007. Total investment of R175,000 
million secured. Free advertising successfully 
scheduled and flighted. Meetings were held 
with CNBC Africa during the course of the 
quarter to address concerns and agree 
advertising and programme schedules

Letters have been signed by MEC to  
heads of departments to inform them  
of advertising opportunities

A number of meetings were held with 
potential advertisers
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 Goal Key performance Target Performance result Reason for
  areas (KPIs)   variance
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The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) requires the Directors to ensure that Gauteng Film Commission (GFC) keeps 
full and proper records of its financial affairs. The annual financial statements should fairly present the state of the affairs of GFC, 
its financial results, and its financial position at the end of the year. The annual financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Directors. The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the financial statements.

The annual financial statements of GFC have been prepared in terms of the South African Statements of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP), including 
any interpretations of such statements, where no GRAP exists. The financial statements have been prepared in the manner 
required by the South African Companies Act of 1973; The Public Finance Management Act, 1 of 1999; and the relevant Treasury 
regulations. 

These annual financial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates; and are prepared on the going concern basis. The Directors have every reason to believe that the GFC will be a 
going concern in the year ahead.

To discharge the above responsibilities, the Board of Directors set standards to ensure that sound systems of internal control are 
implemented by management.

The controls are designed to provide cost-effective assurance that assets are safeguarded, and that liabilities and working capital 
are efficiently managed. Policies, procedures, structures and approval frameworks provide direction, accountability and division of 
responsibilities.

The controls throughout GFC focus on those critical risk areas identified by operational risk management and confirmed by 
executive management. Management, Audit Committee and Internal Audit closely monitor the controls and ensure action is taken 
to correct deficiencies as they are identified.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by Management, Audit Committee and Internal 
Audit based on the results of their audit, that the material internal accounting controls are adequate to, ensure that the financial 
records may be relied upon for preparing the annual statements, and that accountability for assets and liabilities is maintained.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, 
procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

In the opinion of the Directors based on the information available to date, the annual financial statements (including cash flow 
information) fairly present the financial position of GFC as at 31 March 2009, and the results of its operations for the year 
then ended.

The annual financial statements of GFC for the year ended 31 March 2009, set out on pages 50 to 88 were reviewed by the Audit 
Committee on 15 May 2009 and subsequently approved by the Board of Directors on whose behalf they are signed by:

Nkenke Kekana Terry Tselane
Chairperson Chief Executive Officer
31 May 2009

Statement of responsibility
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
The Board has reaffirmed the Gauteng Film Commission “GFC’s” commitment to sound governance practices and, in 
particular, to the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 “PFMA” as well as the principles underlying the King II Report on 
Corporate Governance and the protocol on Corporate Governance in the public sector as adopted by cabinet in 2002. In 
this regard, the Board is constantly reviewing its corporate governance structures and practices to align it with national best 
practice. The GFC is committed to conducting its affairs with integrity and holds itself responsible and accountable towards 
its stakeholders and clients.

CODE OF ETHICS (THE CODE)
The GFC is managed ethically and in line with the Code, which is based on the fundamental principles of fairness, transparency, 
integrity, reliability, responsibility and honesty.

The Code commits GFC’s management and staff to high standards of conduct in their dealings with its clients and stakeholders. 
No incidence of unethical conduct that required further investigation or action was reported during the year under review.

VALUES
The Commission promotes sound values and is committed to the Batho Pele principles.

THE GFC’S GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES:

ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE SHAREHOLDER
The GFC is an agency established and wholly funded by the Gauteng Department of Economic Development “DED” 
and through its Board of Directors (the Board) is accountable to DED. The MEC for Gauteng Department of Economic 
Development represents the Gauteng Province’s interest.

ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE MEC FOR GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
The MEC in his capacity as representative of the DED determines the 2008/9 financial year Commission’s mandate and holds 
the Board accountable for managing and controlling the Commission’s operations in compliance with its mandate.

A Business Plan and budget for GFC was submitted to the DED in March 2008, as required in terms of Section 52 of the 
Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA).

The Business Plan sets out the strategic objectives and performance criteria and the GFC management is accountable for 
achieving these objectives within the risk parameters.

The Board reports to the DED by way of quarterly and annual reports as well as regular meetings between the CEO and 
the MEC.

The Board is responsible for :
•  Retaining full and effective control over the Commission; 
• Approving the corporate strategy, Business Plans and budgets and monitoring management closely in implementing it;
• Ensuring that the Commission complies with all relevant laws and regulations and codes of best practice; and
• Ensuring that effective risk management processes are in place.

Corporate governance report
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Corporate governance report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

The Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning the affairs of the Commission and have access 
to any information they may require in discharging their duties.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO)
The CEO is charged with the day to day management of the GFC’s operations and assists the Board in providing strategic 
and policy direction to the Commission.

COMPANY SECRETARY
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, whose appointment is in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act and she resigned in December 2008.

BOARD COMMITTEES
To assist it in discharging its responsibilities, the Board has established the following committees: Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and the Bid Committee.

The terms of Reference for each of these Committees were reviewed during the year under review and approved by the 
Board. The Chairpersons of the subcommittees report to the Board of Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee oversees financial reporting, internal control, risk management, funding plans and strategies, compliance, 
corporate governance and policies. It is supported by the Management Committee in fulfilling its duties with regard to 
financial risk management. Its responsibilities pertaining to risk management include, but are not limited to:
• Reviewing the Commission’s risk management policy and strategy;
• Assisting the Board in evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management process;
•  Reviewing the Commission’s significant risk exposures and making recommendations to the Board on appropriate 

mitigation strategies.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The committee is accountable for monitoring and overseeing the remuneration of all the GFC employees; giving due regard 
to the competitiveness within the relevant market as well as the financial wellbeing of the organisation. 

BID COMMITTEE
The committee is accountable for monitoring and overseeing the implementation of the procurement policy, procedures and 
code of conduct and monitoring adherence thereto.
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Corporate governance report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

BOARD COMMITTEES’ COMPOSITION AND RECORD OF ATTENDANCE

Category Name of Director Appointment date Number of meetings
 Total Attended
Board Mr N Kekana (Chairperson) 4 June 2005 3 3

Ms U Mbuli (Resigned – 1 August 2008) 1 October 2005 3 1
Mr J Marnitz 11 October 2002 3 3
Ms Z Nzalo 1 September 2008 1 1
Ms S Bulane-Hopa 1 March 2008 3 2
Mr T Tselane (Executive) 1 January 2006 3 3

Audit Committee Mr J van der Walt – CA(SA) (Chairperson) 24 May 2007 3 3
Mr J Marnitz 1 July 2007 3 3
Ms E Makau 24 May 2007 3 1

Bid Committee Ms U Mbuli 1 April 2008 3 2
Ms Z Nzalo 1 September 2008 1 1

Remuneration
Committee Mr N Kekana (Chairperson) 1 April 2008 1 0

Mr F Manana 1 February 2006 1 1

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE “MANCO”
MANCO comprises executive managers and deals with issues pertaining to the day-to-day management of the business of the 
Commission and is also accountable for formulating the Commission’s strategy and implementing it once approved by the Board.

INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT
In line with the PFMA, the Board is responsible for the management of the risks pertaining to the business of the Commission. 
The Board has delegated this authority to the Chief Executive Officer.

Whilst the Line manager of each Division within the Commission has the primary responsibility for identifying and managing 
risks inherent to the operations of his/her Division, the Audit Committee develops and reviews risks management strategies, 
policies and procedures to ensure that they are appropriate for the Commission.

MANCO reports administratively to the CEO and submits quarterly reports to the Audit Committee, providing assurance 
on the management of significant risks or exposure. The internal audit function independently audits the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Commission’s risk, control and governance processes and this function is outsourced.

STRATEGIC RISKS
Strategic risk relates to failure of the Commission to deliver on its mandate.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The liquidity risk is managed through careful selection of financial instruments and cash flow forecasting. 
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Corporate governance report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

COMPLIANCE RISK
Compliance risk relates to negative impact originating from non-compliance with all applicable legislation and regulations.

The Company Secretary and the Chief Financial Officer assist management in complying with all applicable statutory and 
regulatory requirements. 

The compliance risk is managed through creating awareness of the regulatory requirements, and monitoring compliance with 
legislative requirements.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems.

This risk category is managed through a system of internal controls, which is based on approved policies and procedures for 
initiation, verification and reconciliation of transactions, and adequate segregation of incompatible duties. The operational risk 
category includes the following risk areas:
• Fraud;
• Financial management;
• Legal risk;
• Human resources risk;
• Information risk and
• Business continuity.

During the year under review, the Board approved a policy on wasteful expenditure and has a fraud prevention plan in place. 
No incidents of fraud or irregular activities were reported during the year under review.

REPUTATION RISK
Reputation risk is the risk of damage to the Commission’s image which may impair its ability to retain and generate more business.

The Commission manages its reputational risk through its ongoing evaluation and management of the significant risk types highlighted 
above. A Communications Manager manages the Corporate Communications portfolio.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its duty to ensure that the Commission maintains adequate accounting 
records, internal controls and systems designed to provide reasonable assurance on the integrity and reliability of financial 
information and to safeguard its assets.

The effectiveness of these internal control systems is monitored through management reviews, formalised reporting and 
internal audits. The internal audit function, under the direction of the Audit Committee, is outsourced to an independent 
service provider and operates in terms of an Internal Audit Charter, which was reviewed and approved by the Audit 
Committee and endorsed by the Board of Directors during the year under review.

The internal audit function reports functionally to the Audit Committee and administratively to the CEO and its staff have full 
and unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. The internal audit function is outsourced.

The Audit Committee conducts its own review of the effectiveness of the internal audit function.

All operations, business activities and support functions are subject to internal review. The internal audit plan is based on key 
risk areas identified from risk assessment and the audits are planned and executed to provide management with independent 
assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems.
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Report of the Audit Committee
For the year ended 31 March 2009

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITY
The Audit Committee reports that it has discharged all of its responsibilities set out in terms of sec 38 (1) (a) of the Public 
Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 as well as in its adopted Terms of Reference.

In the conduct of its duties, the Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the following:
• The effectiveness of the internal control systems;
• The effectiveness of the internal audit;
• The risk area of the operations to be covered in the scope of internal and external audits;
•  The adequacy, reliability and accuracy of financial information provided to management and other users of such 

information;
• Any accounting and auditing concerns identified as a result of internal and external audits;
• Compliance with legal, and regulatory provisions; and
•  The activities of the internal audit function, including its annual audit plan, coordination with the external auditors and the 

responses of management to specific recommendations.

2. INTERNAL CONTROLS
The management of the Gauteng Film Commission continues to strive towards sustainable improvement in its control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Audit Committee to indicate that a material breakdown in the functioning of the 
internal controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

In the opinion of the Committee, the internal controls and procedures of the GFC are considered to be appropriate in all 
material respects to:
• Meet the business objectives of the GFC;
• Ensure the GFC assets are adequately safeguarded; and
• Ensure that transactions undertaken are recorded in the GFC records.

3. EVALUATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Committee has evaluated the annual financial statements of the GFC for the year ended 31 March 2009 and, based on 
the information provided to the Audit Committee, considers that they comply, in all material respects, with the requirements 
of the Companies Act, the Public Finance Management Act. 

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements and is of the 
opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.

J Van der Walt – CA (SA)    
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
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The Directors are pleased to submit their report, together with the GFC’s audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2009.

GENERAL REVIEW
The GFC is a section 21 company incorporated in terms of the Companies Act. The main business of the Commission is 
development and promotion of audio-visual industries in Gauteng. The business and activities of the GFC for the year are 
reviewed in the Chief Executive’s report as set out on page 12 of this report.

REGISTRATION AS A PUBLIC ENTITY
In May 2005 the Gauteng Film Commission lodged an application with Treasury for registration and listing as a public 
entity. Treasury has confirmed that the Gauteng Film Commission submission is currently under review. The finalisation of 
the registration by Treasury depends on the final registration of Gauteng Film Commission as a public company and the 
deregistration as a section 21 company.

BUSINESS RESULT SUMMARY
  2009 2008
  R R

Total revenue 40,930,950 49,075,190
Net (deficit)/surplus for the year (3,616,662) 12,355,179
Total assets 13,472,120 26,129,629 
Accumulated surplus 10,436,954 14,082,292

DIRECTORS
The following persons served as Directors of the Company during the financial year :

Name of Director Status Appointed  Reappointment 
Mr N Kekana (Chairperson) Non-Executive 4 June 2005 1 April 2008
Ms U Mbuli (Resigned – 1 August 2008) Non-Executive 1 October 2005 
Mr J Marnitz Non-Executive 11 October 2002 1 April 2008
Ms S Bulane-Hopa Non-Executive 1 March 2008 
Mr T Tselane (CEO) Executive 1 January 2006
Ms Z Nzalo Non-Executive 1 September 2008  

Service contract: No Director has service contracts with the Commission.

Business address  Postal address
9th Floor Anglo Vaal House  PO Box 61601
56 Main Street  Marshalltown
Marshalltown  2107
Johannesburg 

Report of the Directors
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Report of the Directors (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

INTERNAL AUDIT
During the year Gobodo Forensic and Investigative Accounting (Pty) Ltd was appointed as internal auditors, responsible for 
the internal audit of the Gauteng Film Commission.

REGISTRATION AS A TAX EXEMPTION ORGANISATION
An application for listing Gauteng Film Commission as a tax exemption organisation was lodged with the South African 
Revenue Services on the 20th of October 2005. Correspondence has been received from South African Revenue Services 
declining the application. Gauteng Film Commission was however given leave to resubmit the application clearly outlining 
activities that it performs in relation to its mandate of promoting Gauteng as preferred film destination. The application will 
be resubmitted subsequent to registration of the GFC as a public entity.

Nkenke Kekana
Chairperson
31 May 2009
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Report of the Auditor-General 
For the year ended 31 March 2009

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE GAUTENG PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURE ON THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE GAUTENG FILM 
COMMISSION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
1.  I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Gauteng Film Commission which comprise the statement of 

financial position as at 31 March 2009, and the statement of financial performance, the statement of changes in net assets 
and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, as set out on pages 50 to 88.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
2.  The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 and in the manner 
required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and for such internal control as the 
accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

The Auditor-General’s responsibility
3.  As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit 

Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
my audit.

4.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 616 of 2008, 
issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

5.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

6.I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
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Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

Opinion
7.  In my opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Gauteng Film 

Commission as at 31 March 2009 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance 
with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 and in the 
manner required by the PFMA.

Basis of accounting
8.  Without qualifying my opinion, the public entity’s policy is to prepare financial statements on the basis of accounting 

determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1.

Other matters
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the following matter that relate to my responsibilities in the audit of the 
financial statements:

Governance framework
9.  The governance principles that impact the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements are related to the responsibilities 

and practices exercised by the accounting authority and executive management and are reflected in the key governance 
responsibilities addressed below:

Key governance responsibilities
10.  The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a number of responsibilities concerning financial and risk management and 

internal control. Fundamental to achieving this is the implementation of key governance responsibilities, which I have 
assessed as follows:

No. Matter Yes No

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and provided in a 
timely manner

1.
No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the availability of 
requested information.

4

Quality of financial statements and related management information

2. The financial statements were not subject to any material amendments resulting from the audit. 4

3. The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the tabling of the auditor’s report. 4

Timeliness of financial statements and management information

4.
The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as per the legislated deadlines (section 
55 of the PFMA).

4

Availability of key officials during audit 

5. Key officials were available throughout the audit process. 4
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No. Matter Yes No

Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal control and 
governance practices

6. Audit committee

• The public entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year. 4

• The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference. 4
•  The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in section 77   

of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.
4

7. Internal audit

• The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial year. 4

• The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan. 4
•  The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in Treasury 

Regulation 27.2.
4

8. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect 
of financial and risk management.

4

9. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect 
of compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

4

10. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of the financial statements. 4
11. A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk management strategy, which includes  

a fraud prevention plan, is documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 27.2.
4

12. Power and duties assigned are in place, as set out in section 56 of the PFMA. 4

Follow-up of audit findings

13. The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed. 4

14. SCOPA resolutions have been substantially implemented. 4

Issues relating to the reporting of performance information

15. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of a performance report that 
is accurate and complete.

4

16. Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and implemented to ensure the accuracy 
and completeness of reported performance information.

4

17. A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year under review for purposes of 
monitoring the performance in relation to the budget and delivery by the Gauteng Film Commission 
against its mandate, predetermined objectives, outputs, indicators and targets (Treasury Regulation 
29.1/30.1).

4

18. There is a functioning performance management system and performance bonuses are only paid 
after proper assessment and approval by those charged with governance.

4

Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Findings on performance information
11.  I have reviewed the performance information as set out on pages 41 to 49.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the performance information
12.  The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the 

annual report and audited financial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives of the 
public entity.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility
13.  I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in 

Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008.

14.  In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain sufficient 
appropriate evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement.

15.  I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the findings reported 
below.

Audit findings of performance information

Non-compliance with regulatory requirements

Content of annual performance plan
16.  The annual performance plan of the public entity did not always include objectives and outcomes as identified by the 

executive authority as well as key performance measures and indicators for assessing the public entity’s performance in 
delivering the desired outcomes and objectives, as required by Treasury Regulation 30.1.3.

Lack of effective, efficient and transparent systems and internal controls  
regarding performance management
17.  The accounting authority did not ensure that the Gauteng Film Commission has and maintains an effective, efficient and 

transparent system and internal controls regarding performance management, which describe and represent how the 
entity’s processes of performance planning, monitoring, review and reporting will be conducted, organised and managed, 
as required in terms of section 51(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA.

Usefulness and reliability of reported performance information
18.  The following criteria were used to assess the usefulness and reliability of the information on the entity’s performance with 

respect to the objectives in its annual performance plan:
•  Consistency: Has the entity reported on its performance with regard to its objectives, indicators and targets in its approved 

annual performance plan? 
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•  Relevance: Is the performance information as reflected in the indicators and targets clearly linked to the predetermined 
objectives and mandate. Is this specific and measurable, and is the time period or deadline for delivery specified?

•  Reliability: Can the reported performance information be traced back to the source data or documentation and is the 
reported performance information accurate and complete in relation to the source data or documentation?

The following audit finding relates to the above criteria:

Reported performance information not reliable

Lack of source documentation
19.  Sufficient appropriate audit evidence in relation to the reported performance information of the tested objectives could 

not be obtained, as the relevant source documentation could not always be provided for review purposes.

APPRECIATION
20. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Gauteng Film Commission during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Johannesburg 
31 July 2009

 

Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Statement of financial position
At year end 31 March 2009

 Notes 2009 2008
  R R
ASSETS
Non-current assets  1,112,123 1,017,412
Property, plant and equipment 2 1,080,319 987,405
Bank guarantee 3 31,804 30,007

Current assets  12,359,997 25,112,217
Other receivables 4 3,712,087 23,131,967
Cash and cash equivalents 5 8,647,910 1,980,250

TOTAL ASSETS  13,472,120 26,129,629
NET FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Accumulated surplus  10,436,954 14,028,292

Current liabilities  3,035,166 12,101,337
Other payables 6 2,291,256  11,546,103
Provisions 7 743,910 555,234

TOTAL FUNDS ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  13,472,120 26,129,629
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Statement of financial performance
For the year ended 31 March 2009

 Notes 2009 2008
  R R
Revenue 8 40,930,950 49,075,190
Government grant  39,035,067 48,550,000
Interest income  1,856,955 496,947
Other income  38,928 –
Interest in discounting accounts payables   – 28,243

Expenditure  (44,547,612) (36,720,011)
CNBC Africa partnership 9 (22,886,482) (18,887,700)
Employee costs  (7,128,643) (6,763,120)
Information management  – (1,389,859)
Industry support and development  (3,509,531) (1,710,465)
Marketing cost  (6,348,182) (4,384,785)
Office costs  (436,959) (413,917)
Training and development costs  (152,517) (169,257)
Other operating costs  (3,969,513) (2,843,943)
Travel – local  (53,881) (20,049)
Travel and subsistence-international    (61,904) (136,916)

(Deficit)/surplus before taxation 10 (3,616,662)    12,355,179
Taxation 11 – –

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year  12 (3,616,662)   12,355,179

Attributable to:   
Net asset holders   (3,616,662) 12,355,179
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 Notes 2009 2008
  R R

Balance at 1 April 2008  14,028,292 1,673,113

Income received adjustment  25,324 –

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year  (3,616,662) 12,355,179

Accumulated surplus at 31 March 2009  10,436,954 14,028,292

Statement of changes in net assets
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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 Notes 2009 2008
  R R

Grants received from grantors   19,615,187 25,650,839
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (14,324,615)   (24,987,796)

Cash generated from operations 14 5,290,572 663,043
Interest received  1,856,955 496,947

Net cash inflow from operations  7,147,527  1,159,990

Cash outflows from investing activities  (479,867) (406,663)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (478,070) (405,425)
Bank guarantee  (1,797)  (1,238)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year   6,667,660 753,327
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,980,250 1,226,923

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 8,647,910 1,980,250

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statement of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretation of such Statement issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with 
the effective Standard of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board 
replacing the equivalent GAAP Statements as follows:

Standard of GRAP Replaced statements of GAAP
GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements AC 101: Presentation of financial statements
GRAP 2: Cash flow statements  AC 118: Cash flow statements
GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in accounting AC 103: Accounting policies, changes in 
             estimates and errors             accounting estimates and errors

Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in 
the material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 and 
3 has resulted in the following changes in the presentation of the financial statements. 

Terminology differences:

Standard of GRAP Statements of GAAP
Statement of financial performance Income statement
Statement of financial position Balance sheet
Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity
Net assets Equity
Surplus/deficit for the period  Profit/loss for the period
Accumulated surplus/deficit Retained earnings
Contribution from owner Share capital
Distributions to owners Dividends
Reporting date Balance sheet date

The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with direct method. 

Specific information has been presented separately on the statement of financial positions such as:
(a) Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and taxes and transfer ;
(b) Taxes and transfer payable;
(c) Trade and other payable from non-exchange transactions;

Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

The effect of adopting this GRAP Standard when they become effective is not expected to have significant impact on the 
financial statements as the principles are similar to those already applied under the equivalent Statement of GAAP.

1.2 GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied 
consistently throughout the period.

1.3 REVENUE
This includes revenue allocation from Department of Economic Development; interest received from the bank and other 
income, revenue is recognised on the accrual basis. Government grants are recognised as income when it is probable that 
future economic benefit will flow to the company and these benefits are measured reliably, in terms of IAS 18 revenue is 

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivables. “Fair value” may be described as the amount at which 
assets could be exchanged or liability could be settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in arms length transactions.

1.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as assets when:
It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company; and
The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant 
and equipment, the carrying amount to be replaced part is derecognised.

The cost of each assets category include costs incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment cost 
incurred subsequently to add, replace part of, or service it.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

Cost model
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods and services or administration purposes are 
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost/valuation of each asset over its estimated useful 
life as follows:
Computer and software 3 years
Office machinery and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years
Leasehold improvement 5 years
Printers 3 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each Statement of Financial Position date.

1.5 RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS
Provident Fund
Gauteng Film Commission operates a defined contribution umbrella fund for all its permanent employees, the assets of which 
are held in a separate trustee administered fund, which is subjected to the Pension Act, 1956 as amended. Payments are 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year to which they relate.

1.6 OPERATING LEASES
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and reward of ownership of the underlying assets are classified as operating leases. 
Payment made under operating leases are charged against income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease, 
leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease.

1.7 CURRENCY
These financials are presented in South Africa Rand since that is the currency in which the Board’s transactions are denominated.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

1.8 FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions in currencies other than the company’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of the exchange prevailing 
at the date of the transaction. Foreign assets and liabilities are translated into South African currency at the rate ruling at the 
financial year end. Exchange gains and losses arising from the settlement of monetary items are included in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. The company does not use derivatives financial instruments for speculative polices.

1.9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition.

1.10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

1.11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short term highly investment that is 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially 
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.12 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
1.12.1 Parent
Gauteng Film Commission has related party transactions with the Department of Economic Development which is the parent 
organisation responsible for primary funding. Grants amounting to R39,035,067 were made to GFC by the department for 
2008/9 financial year.

Balances
There were no outstanding balances from transactions between the department and GFC at the 2008/9 balance sheet date.

1.12.2 National Film and Video Foundation (NFVF) and Cape Film Commission (CFC).
During the year under review the GFC partnered with the NFVF on the implementation of a number of collaborative 
projects. These projects entailed GFC contributing towards the staging of national exhibitions at the 2008 AFCI Locations 
Expo and the 2008 Cannes Film Festival, during the year under review the GFC partnered with the CFC on the staging of a 
national pavilion at the Cannes Lions Advertising Festival. 
 2009 2008
 R  R

National Film and Video Foundation 428,794 –
Cape Film Commission 150,000 100,000

  578,794 100,000

1.12.3 Members of key management and personnel
For the remuneration to Directors refer to Directors and senior management emoluments note 10.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2009

     Leasehold  
 Computer Computer Office Office improve-  
 hardware software furniture equipment ments Total
Summary R R R R R R

Carrying amount at 
beginning of the year 283,038 107,571 357,237 58,444 181,115 987,405
Cost at 1 April 2008  422,854 137,485 507,280  93,551  301,857 1,463,027
Accumulated depreciation  (139,816) (29,914) (150,043) (35,107) (120,742) (475,622)
Assets disposed  (30,202) (4,692) – (5,604)  –  (37,964)
Assets written off  (85,606) (14,168) – –  –  (99,774)
Additions 397,169 42,184 – 38,716 – 478,070
Depreciation (142,552) (51,022) (101,456) (20,641) (60,371) (376,042)

Carrying amount at 
the end of the year 533,077 98,221 255,782 72,495  120,744 1,080,319
Gross carrying amount 704,216 160,809 507,281 126,662  301,857  1,800,826
Accumulated depreciation (171,139) (62,588) (251,499) (54,167)  (181,113)  (720,507)

2008

     Leasehold  
 Computer Computer Office Office improve-  
 hardware software furniture equipment ments Total
Summary R R R R R R

Carrying amount at 
beginning of the year 108,442 22,218 362,735 70,662  241,486 805,543
Cost at 1 April 2007 241,315 45,187 463,066 90,981 301,857 1,142,406
Accumulated depreciation (132,873) (22,969) (100,331) (20319)  (60,371) (336,863)
Assets disposals (66,202)  (12,791) – (5,748)  – (84,741)
Additions 247,741 105,089 44,214 8,381 – 405,425
Depreciation (73,145) (19,736) (49,712) (20,536) (60,371) (223,500)

Carrying amount at 
end of the year  283,038 107,571 357,237 58,444 181,115  987,405
Gross carrying amount 422,854 137,485 507,280 93,551 301,857 1,463,027
Accumulated depreciation (139,816)  (29,914)  (150,043) (35,107) 120,742 (475,622)
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3. BANK GUARANTEE 

   2009  2008 
  R R

Opening balance  30,007   28,769
Interest capitalised    1,797  1,238

Closing balance  31,804 30,007

Bank guarantee is in terms of the lease agreement entered into with Venture Building Trust (Pty) Ltd. The amount will be 
reverted back to the Gauteng Film Commission at the end of the lease period which expires on 31 October 2010.

4. OTHER RECEIVABLES

   2009  2008 
  R R

South African Revenue Services – Value Added Tax   3,502,305 2,957,878
Prepaid expenses   3,873  3,879
Sundry debtors     205,909  170,926
Debtor – Department of Economic Development  – 20,000,000
Discounting of receivables  – (716)

   3,712,087 23,131,967

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank balances. Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow 
statement comprise of the following balance sheet amounts.

   2009  2008 
  R R

Cash at bank  8,646,803 1,978,250
Cash on hand    1,107  2,000

  8,647,910 1,980,250

6. OTHER PAYABLES

   2009  2008 
  R R

Creditors  87,640 2,254,039
Accruals  2,203,616  9,322,715
Discounting of payables   – (30,651)

  2,291,256 11,546,103

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

7. PROVISIONS

   Leave pay
   2009
   R

Opening balance:1 April 2008   555,234
Settlement for provision raised prior year   118,365
Raised during the year   307,041

   743,910

   Leave pay
   2008
   R

Balance at 1 April 2007   343,609
Utilised during the year   –
Raised during the year   93,260

   436,869

Provision for Chief Financial Officer settlement   118,365

   555,234

8. REVENUE
Revenue arises from the following events and transactions:

  2009 2008 
  R R

Government grant – Main appropriation  3,550,000 18,550,000
                           – CNBC Africa  35,485,067 10,000,000
                           – Additional budget  – 20,000,000
Interest received  1,856,955 496,947
Other income  38,928 –
Interest in discounting accounts payables  – 28,243

          40,930,950 49,075,190
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9. CNBC AFRICA AGREEMENT

Gauteng Film Commission has committed R22,5 million rand to CNBC Africa trading as Africa Business News for five years 

commencing on the launch date which was 1 June 2007. Gauteng Film Commission will be obliged to pay an estimated 

R67,5 million for the remaining three years of the agreement provided that they don’t receive any revenue from protected 

clients. It should be noted that during the current year under review Gauteng Film Commission did not collect any revenue 

hence they incurred the following expenditure (refer to message of the Chief Executive Officer).

  2009 2008 

  R R

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

Revenue 

Income received from clients  – –

Expenditure 

CNBC Africa partnership  22,886,482 18,887,700

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

10. NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION
The net surplus/(deficit) are stated after taking the following into account:

 Notes 2009 2008
  R R

Income
Proceeds from insurance claim(1)   23,194 –

Expenditure
Depreciation  376,042 223,500
Computer hardware  142,552 73,145
Computer software  51,022 19,736
Furniture and fittings  101,456 49,172
Office equipment  20,641 20,536
Leasehold improvements  60,371 60,371
Provident Fund  573,714 614,820
Repairs and maintenance  3,441 8,007
Loss on disposal of assets write offs  9,110 –
Assets written off  99,774 84,741

Professional fees   588,292 561,909
Accounting  72,960 63,730

Audit Fee
External auditors  232,759 147,711
Internal auditors   275,925 165,759
Legal cost   6,648 184,709

Operating lease charges  765,890 602,460
Equipment  381,202 304,678
Property  384,688 297,782

Note 1. This relates to proceeds from insurance claims received from the insurance company for assets lost during the financial 
year under review.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

10. NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
The net surplus/(deficit) are stated after taking the following into account:

 Notes 2009 2008
  R R

Directors emoluments  1,469,318 1,379,771
– Executive Directors 10.1 1,317,318 1,251,771
– Non-Executive Directors(1) 10.2 152,000 128,000

10.1 EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

   Leave  Medical Provident 
  Salary pay Bonus aid fund Total
 Year R R R R R R

T Tselane  2009  1,133,382  – 145,026 38,910  – 1,317,318

Total  1,133,382 – 145,026 38,910 – 1,317,318

T Tselane  2008 1,062,956 – 144,139 44,676 – 1,251,771

Total  1,062,956 – 144,139 44,676 – 1,251,771

10.2 NON–EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

  Directors Leave  Medical Provident 
  fees pay Bonus aid fund Total
 Year R R R R R R

N Kekana  2009 12,000 – – – –  12,000
J Marnitz 2009 52,000 – – – – 52,000
U Mbuli(2) 2009 4,000 – – – –  4,000
S Bulane-Hopa 2009  44,000 – – – – 44,000
Z Nzalo(3) 2009  40,000 – – – –  40,000

Total  152,000 – – – – 152,000

I Charnley(4) 2008  –  –  –  –  –  –
N Kekana 2008 32,000  –  –  –  – 32,000
J Marnitz 2008 52,000  –  –  –  – 52,000
U Mbuli 2008  40,000  –  –  –  – 40,000
S Bulane-Hopa 2008  4,000  –  –  –  –  4,000

Total  128,000  –  –  –  – 128,000
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10.3 SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

   Leave  Medical Provident 
  Salary pay Bonus aid fund Total
 Year R R R R R R

T Masudubele(5) 2009 76,761 – 45,321 2,556 11,567 136,205
E Maluleke(6) 2009 49,160  – 57,770 1,836 9,009 117,775
N Motaung 2009 320,723  41,497 40,875  – 47,151  450,246
J Stoltz  2009 444,211  – 45,321  24,621 76,646  590,799

Total  890,855 41,497 189,287 29,013  144,373  1,295,025

N Motaung(7) 2008 378,124 – 25,000 – 59,647 462,771
T Sauls(8) 2008 156,240  –  – 2,540 24,573 183,353
J Stoltz  2008 407,377  – 41,579 22,263 71,730  542,949
M Tlhopane(9) 2008 651,352  – 53,000  11,133 95,983  811,468

Total  1,593,093  – 119,579 35,936 251,933  2,000,541

(1)  An increase in Non-Executive Director’s emoluments is due to the fact that the Gauteng Film Commission is a member of AFCI 
(Association of Film Commissioners International).

(2) Resigned 1 August 2008.
(3) Appointed 1 September 2008.
(4)  An amount of R12, 000 has been accrued due to I Charnley having opted for this amount to be forwarded to the charity of her 

choice.
(5) Appointed 1 February as Senior Manager: Industry Support and Development
(6) Appointed 18 February 2009 as Chief Financial Officer.
(7) Appointed as Company secretary/legal manager 11 April 2007.
(8) Dismissed on 6 August 2007.
(9) Resigned on 28 March 2008.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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11. TAXATION
 Gauteng Film Commission is incorporated as a Section 21 Association not for gain which has as its main objective to facilitate 
and promote film production in Gauteng Province. Gauteng Film Commission has applied for taxation exemption in terms of 
section 10(1)(Zg) of the Income Tax Act, Gauteng Film Commission is still awaiting for the exemption as at 31 March 2009, 
and no tax has been raised.

12. RISK MANAGEMENT
Liquidity risk
The company‘s risk consists mainly as a result of the funds to cover future commitments. The company manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing are monitored.

Inherent risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposit, cash equivalents and trade debtors. Gauteng Film Commission only deposits cash 
with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter.

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. Gauteng Film Commission only deposits cash 
with major banks with high credit standing and limits exposure to any counter party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. 

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
13.1 DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT
Gauteng Treasury has declined the GFC retention of surplus for 2007/8 financial year, however a letter was received from 
the Department of Economic Development to the contrary, and this was a result of an amount of R20 million which was 
deposited into GFC bank account on 9 April 2008.

13.2 CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER SETTLEMENT
This relates to an amount of R118,365 which was paid to the Chief Financial Officer as a settlement from a labour 
relations dispute. 

14. RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO CASH GENERATED FROM 
OPERATIONS

 Notes 2009 2008
  R R

Net (deficit)/surplus before taxation   (3,616,662)    12,355,179

Adjusted for items separately disclosed in the 
face of the cash flow statement  (1,856,955) (496,947)
Interest received  (1,856,955) (496,947)

Adjusted for items not involving the 
flow of cash and cash equivalents  385,152 223,500
Depreciation  376,042 223,500
Loss on disposal of assets written offs  9,110 –

Adjusted for changes in working capital  10,353,713  (11,418,689)
(Decrease)/Increase in accounts receivable  19,419,880 (22,899,161)
(Decrease)/Increase in accounts payable  (9,040,843) 11,480,472

Cash generated from operations  5,290,572 663,043

  2009 2008
  R R

15. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
Future minimum lease payment
Within one year  664,634 560,581
Five years  782,892 664,633
More than five years  – –

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payables for Gauteng Film Commission’s premises which expire on the 
31 October 2010. This also includes rentals paid for office equipment; the escalation rate is 10% annually.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

16. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET

 2009 2009 2009
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R
REVENUE 
Government grant for the year 39,035,067 51,050,000  12,014,933
Interest income  1,856,955 –  1,856,955
Other income  38,928 –  38,928

Revenue per statement of 
financial performance 40,930,950 51,050,000  10,119,050

Total 40,930,950 51,050,000 10,119,050

EXPENDITURE   
Management of GFC (10,510,350) (11,919,490) 1,409,140
Administrative services  (110,991) (164,000) 53,009
Auxiliary services (911,280) (942,600) 31,320
Building and office equipment (436,959) (532,000) 95,042
Development and maintenance of IT (446,134) (458,240) 12,106
Human resources (465,064)  (559,792) 94,728
Office security and safety (175,522) (196,850) 21,328
Printing and stationery (254,113) (291,000) 36,887
Professional fees (581,644) (620,000) 38,356
Employee cost (7,128,643) (8,155,008) 1,026,366

Legal and governance (805,564)  (1,055,600) 250,036
AFCI (571,346) (550,000) (21,346)
Audit committee fees (28,656)  (36,000) 7,344
Bid committee fees (4,000) (8,000)  4,000
Directors remuneration (164,000) (212,000)  48,000
Legal fees (6,648) (150,000)  143,352
Professional fees – Advice to the Board – (30,000) 30,000
Refreshments and meetings (22,565)  (30,000) 7,435
Remuneration committees fees (4,000) (24,000) 20 000
Training and development – board members (4,350) (15,600) 11,250

Industry support and development (3,509,531) (3,510,000) 469
Audience development (740,784) (710,000) (30,784)
Content distribution support (1,035,308) (1,040,000) 4,692
Production development support (851,780) (880,000) 28,220
Training and development (881,659)  (880,000) (1,659)
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16. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET (continued)

 2009 2009 2009
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R

Advocacy and strategy (22,988,835) (27,600,000) 4,611,165
CNBC Africa partnership (22,886,482) (26,000,000) 3,113,518
Phase II project Gaullywood – (1,500,000) 1,500,000
Entertainment and hosting (102,353) (100,000) (2,353)

Marketing (6,348,180) (6,400,000) 51,820
Data collection, analysis and dissemination (99,905) (100,000) 95
GFC publication and promotional materials (731,203) (746,502) 15,299
GFC website and online directory (316,214) (350,000) 33,786
Film Indaba (1,097,992) (1,104,608) 6,616
Inbound buyer and familiarisation trips (1,863) (21,875) 20,012
Integrated marketing plan (1,370,869)  (1,350,000) (20,869)
Location access and support (45,040) (50,000) 4,960
National and local industry events (378,661) (380,000) 1,339
Outbound mission (1,975,925) (1,964,168) (11,757)
Promotion of social and economic value (173,194) (175,251) 2,057
Sector and stakeholders engagements (157,314) (157,596) 282

Other cost (385,152)  – (385,152)
Loss on disposal of assets write offs (9,110) – (9,110)
Depreciation (376,042) – (375,042)

Total expenditure as per statement 
of financial performance (44,547,612) (50,385,090) 5,837,478

Adjustment for items not included in 
statement of financial performance   
Capital expenditure  (478,069) (564,910) 86,841

Total expenditure including 
capital expenditure (45,025,681) (51,050,000) 6,024,319

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

17. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET

 2008 2008 2008
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R
REVENUE 
Government grant for the year 48,550,000 28,550,000  (20,000,000)
Interest income  496,947  –  (496,947)
Interest in discounting accounts payables 28,243  –  (28,243)

Revenue per statement of 
financial performance  49,075,190 28,550,000  (20,525,190)

Total 49,075,190 28,550,000 (20,525,190)

EXPENDITURE   
Corporate services (9,789,933) (9,829,900) 39,967
Administrative services  (78,456) (81,965) 3,509
Building and office equipment (413,917) (417,100) 3,183
Development and maintenance of IT (304,678)  (305,000) 322
Human resources (458,597)  (453,000) (5,597)
Printing and stationery (285,361) (285,000) (361)
Professional fees (729,910) (743,000) 13,090
Refreshment and entertainment (755,894) (794,283) 38,389
Employee cost (6,763,120) (6,750,552) (12,568)

Information management (1,389,859) (1,377,763) (12,096)
Audio visual promotion (34,728) (35,158) 430
Communication and PR strategy (37,396)  (37,264) (132)
Content commissioning (111,124) (111,124)  –
Hosting and familiarisation programmes (952,778) (952,778)  –
GFC directory (40,110) (40,110)  –
GFC publication portfolio (105,166) (105,166)  –
GFC promotional materials (4,055)  – (4,055)
Media monitoring (16,000) (16,000)  –
GFC website (88,502) (80,163) (8,339)

Investment and 
transformation promotions (1,710,465) (2,300,000) 589,535
Audience development (432,950) (610,000) 177,050
Content development (406,717) (589,994) 183,277
Investment promotion (684,938) (660,006) (24,932)
Training and development (185,860) (390,000) 204,140
Women and children in film  –  (50,000)  50,000
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17. REPORTING AGAINST BUDGET (continued)

 2008 2008 2008
 Actual Budget Variance
 R R R

Specialised project (18,887,700) (10,000,000) (8,887,700)
CNBC Africa partnership (18,887,700) (10,000,000) (8,887,700)

Marketing (4,718,063) (4,622,237) (95,826)
AFCI membership and participation (473,138) (472,876) (262)
Above the line advertising (869,206) (822,858) (46,348)
Below the line and marketing campaigns (226,441) (219,117) (7,324)
Development and implementation of five year 
sector development  (1,623,693) (1,623,693) –
Gauteng festival, awards and market supports (851,472) (845,222) (6,250)
Gauteng film partnership programme – – –
Location enquiry system (69,500) (69,500) –
Marketing and research resources centre (1,680) (1,680) –
Permit review (97,500) (97,500) –
Regional partnership – – –
Trade mission (505,433) (469,791) (35,642)

Other cost (223,991) – (223,991)
Bad debts (491) – (491)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets – – –
Depreciation (223,500) – (223,500)

Total expenditure as per statement 
of financial performance (36,720,011) (28,129,900) (8,590,111)

Adjustment for items not included in 
statement of financial performance
Capital expenditure  (405,425) (420,100) 14,675

Total expenditure including 
capital expenditure (37,125,436) (28,550,000) (8,575,436)

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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Roodeplaat dam, Dinokeng
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

  12 months 12 months 
  ended  ended
   2009 2008
  R R

REVENUE  40,930,950 49,075,190
Government grant  39,035,067 48,550,000
Interest income  1,856,955 496,947
Other income  38,928 –
Interest in discounting accounts payables  – 28,243

EXPENDITURE  44,547,612 36,720,011
Audio visual promotion  – 34,728
Above the line advertising  – 869,206
Audit committee fees  28,656 –
AFCI membership and participation  571,346 473,138
Audience development  740,784 432,950
Bank charges  25,602 21,212
Bad debt  – 491
Below the line and marketing campaigns  – 226,441
Books, publication and subscription  5,424 4,705
Communication and PR strategy  – 37,396
CNBC Africa partnership  22,886,482 18,887,700
Content commissioning  – 111,124
Content distribution support  1,035,308 406,717
CEO corporate entertainment  102,353 –
Development and maintenance of IT  446,134 304,678
Depreciation  376,042 223,500
Development and implementation of five year sector development  – 1,623,693
Directors fees  164,000 128,000
Employee costs  7,128,643 6,763,120
Film Indaba  1,097,992 –
Gauteng festivals, awards and marketing support  – 831,423
GFC website and directory  316,214 128,612
GFC promotional materials  731,203 4,055
GFC publication portfolio  – 105,166
Hosting and familiarisation programmes  – 952,778
Insurance  77,064 57,244
Integrated marketing plan  1,370,869 –
Investment promotion  –  684,938

Supplementary information
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)

  12 months 12 months 
  ended  ended
   2009 2008
  R R

EXPENDITURE (continued)
Labour relation cost  17,424 27,248
Legal fees  6,648 –
Location enquiry system  45,040 69,500
Loss on disposal of assets write offs  9,110 –
Media monitoring  – 16,000
Marketing research centre  1,863 1,680
National and local marketing events  378,661 –
Office equipment maintenance  3,441 8,008
Office rent  294,062 269,781
Other operating cost  198,531 28,841
Organisational development cost  123,701 154,837
Outbound mission and festivals  1,975,925 –
Permit review  – 97,500
Printing and stationery  254,114 285,361
Professional fees  581,644 609,910
Production development support  851,780 –
Promotion and social economic development  173,194 –
Refreshment and entertainment  905,854 576,714
Recruitment cost  171,422 107,253
Sector and stakeholder engagement  157,314 –
Staff parking  90,626 99,802
Staff development cost  119,047 30,034
Study assistance  33,470 139,223
Trade mission  – 505,433
Training and development – ISD  881,659 185,860
Training and development – board  4,350 –
Travel – local  53,881 20,049
Travel and subsistence – international  61,904 136,916
Water and electricity charge  48,831 37,046

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year  (3,616,662) 12,355,179

This information is solely for information purposes and does not form part of the annual financial 
statements.

Supplementary information (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2009
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IMAGES COURTESy OF:
• Gauteng Film Commission/Alan Rheeder photography

• Gauteng Tourism Authority

• Johannesburg Tourism Company

• South African Tourism
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the lockheed electra outside Rand Airport



Gauteng Film Commission

56 Main Street 

Johannesburg, 2108,

South Africa

Tel:  +27 (0)11 833 0409 

Fax:  +27 (0)11 833 0282

Email:  info@gautengfilm.org.za

PO Box 61601

Marshalltown

2107


